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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FIEEE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “"Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates its business through three segments, namely
integrated plastic solutions segment, electronic cigarette (the
“e-cigarettes”) products segment and medical consumable products
segment. The integrated plastic solutions segment engages in mould
design and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The e-cigarettes products segment engages
in the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products. The Group's
medical consumable products segment engages in the manufacturing
and sales of disposable face masks products under our own brand name
of "CAREWE". The Group distributes our products within the domestic
market and to overseas markets, including Europe, Asia and the United
States (the "U.S.").

During 2022, the global economy was dampened as affected by the
Russia-Ukraine war and the rise of interest rate for combating high
inflation. In addition, the rebound of novel coronavirus ("COVID-19")
pandemic affected the business environment. Apart from these, as
disclosed on the announcement dated 14 March 2022, the exclusivity
term between the major customer of e-cigarette products was removed
during the Year ("Exclusivity”), which meant the orders for certain
e-cigarettes products were placed to other suppliers, thus, the sales
orders for e-cigarette products were affected. Despite the challenging
business environment, the Group continued to work more closely with
its existing business partners and grasped the opportunity to broaden
the customer base. Therefore, the Group recorded a growth in both
revenue and profit after tax during the Year. The growth was primarily
contributed by the increase in sales of integrated plastic solutions.

During the Year, the Group's total revenue amounted to approximately
HK$1,143.9 million, representing an increase of approximately 2.3%
(2021: HK$1,117.7 million). The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$260.1 million (2021: HK$253.9 million) with a gross
profit margin of approximately 22.7% (2021: 22.7%).
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The Group recorded a profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$105.9 million (2027: HK$96.3 million).
Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
were approximately 17.09 HK cents (2027: 15.53 HK cents).

The Group has been upgrading its production capacity for the current
and new products through the addition of new machines. In addition,
the construction of new factory premises was completed during 2022,
the Group is planning to lease out the new factory premises. During
the Year, the capital expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to
approximately HK$12.5 million, including HK$1.7 million for the addition
of new machines.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

The Group expects 2023 to be a year of challenges. The macroeconomy
and consumer confidence will be adversely affected by rise in interest
rate, complicated geopolitical crises and the recent financial downturn
from the fall of certain banks in the U.S. and Europe. In addition,
the removal of Exclusivity and tightening regulations on e-cigarette
products will place great pressure on the Group's performance in the
e-cigarettes products segment. In this difficult time, we will continue our
effort in prospecting new customers who are sourcing for high quality
e-cigarettes products. Apart from this, the Group will not stop expanding
our products range for all segments and will not compromise our
products quality for lower costs. We believe this is the only sustainable
way for competitiveness and success.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere gratitude
towards the continual support from the shareholders and the valuable
contributions of the staff. The management team will continue to fulfill
its duties to create more values for the shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHfE R iR

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions business division was
mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic injection
moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic components
employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated internally or by our
subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, plastic injection
moulds with cavities, to shape the plastic components in accordance
with the desired and customised design, features and specifications.
The Group has the technical capabilities to fabricate moulds that meet
the MT1 precision level as defined by the “National Standard of the
People's Republic of China GB/T14486- 2008-Dimensional Tolerances
for Moulded Plastic Parts” (15 AR H BB KIZLECB/T14486-2008-
SRR B {4 R <A Z) which is the highest precision level under the
national guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying
the plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited cases,
external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic components
for office furniture, office electronic products, home appliances,
communication products, automobiles and solar system.

Manufacturing of e-cigarette products

The Group manufactures e-cigarettes products as an original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM") and sells to overseas and the
People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). Such e-cigarette products
include disposable e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery rods,
clearomisers, liquidpods and heated tobacco device. As disclosed on the
announcement dated 14 March 2022, the restrictive clause for accepting
the order from other customer in manufacturing the products which is
similar or competing to the products manufacturing for the well-known
tobacco group customer had been cancelled. The Group has obtained
the Tobacco Monopoly Production Enterprise License issued by the State
Tobacco Monopoly Administration of the People’s Republic of China in
respect of OEM with validity period from 28 June 2022 to 30 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS (conTiNUED)
Manufacturing of medical consumable products

The Group manufactures disposable face masks by utilising the
cleanroom facilities in the Group’s production plant in Huizhou and
acquiring disposable face mask production machines since 2020, as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020.

The cleanroom facility in Huizhou has been certified in compliance with
the cleanroom standard of ISO14644-1:2015 Class 8, as recognised by
the U.S. National Environmental Balancing Bureau. The manufacturing
quality system, complemented by medical device sterilisation controls,
has fulfilled the international standard of EN [SO13485:2016 Medical
Devices Quality Management Systems as certified by the Société
Générale de Surveillance S.A. ("SGS”). In addition, the Group has been
granted Medical Device Manufacturing Enterprise License (E/&E23# 4
EEFFAIFE) on medical device production issued by the National Medical
Products Administration in the People's Republic of China.

The procedure face masks have been tested and proved to be meeting
up to the standard of ASTM F2100 Level 3 in the U.S. and the standard
of EN14683 Type IIR in Europe. Apart from the procedure face masks,
the Group also developed face masks with higher level of protection,
such as particulate face masks — KN95 and FFP2. The particulate
face masks — KN95, has passed the requirements of GB2626- 2016
standard in the PRC and NIOSH N95 — Pre-Certification Test issued by
the ICS Laboratories and Nelson Laboratories in the U.S. In addition, the
particulate face masks — FFP2, has also passed the requirements of EN
149:2001+A1:2009 standard, credited as FFP2 NR protective respirator,
and certified with CE Mark (through SGS Fimko Oy, Notified Body #0598)
granted by the SGS. Furthermore, the Group has obtained the Section
510(k) premarket notification ("PMN") clearance from the United States
Food and Drug Administration ("FDA") in August 2022 on our surgical
particulate face masks — N95 and FFP2, indicating that our particulate
face mask products are safe and effective to be used in medical and
surgical situation. And they can be legally sold and marketed in the U.S..
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREnt IR iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$1,143.9 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$26.2
million, or approximately 2.3%, from approximately HK$1,117.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The integrated plastic solutions segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$587.1 million, accounting for
approximately 51.3% of our total revenue and representing an increase
of approximately HK$105.7 million, or approximately 22.0%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$481.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. This was primarily because of the increase in orders
from the Group’'s major customers and sales for new model plastic
products during the year.

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$553.2 million, accounting for
approximately 48.4% of our total revenue and representing a decrease of
approximately HK$81.1 million, or approximately 12.8%, from segment
revenue of approximately HK$634.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. The decrease was resulted from the effect of removal
of the Exclusivity with the major customer, which led to the orders for
e-cigarettes products decreased during the year.

The medical consumable products segment revenue for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$3.6 million, accounting for
approximately 0.3% of our total revenue and representing an increase
of approximately HK$1.6 million, or approximately 80.0%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$2.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (cOoNTINUED)
Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$260.1 million (2027: HK$253.9 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 22.7% (2021: 22.7%).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2022 was
approximately HK$146.9 million (2021: HK$120.3 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 25.0% (2021: 25.0%).

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2022 was
approximately HK$113.0 million (2021: HK$137.4 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 20.4% (2027: 21.7%). The unit price sold and
sales volume decreased during the year. The production fixed overhead
per unit sold is thus higher and lowered the gross profit margin.

Segment gross profit for medical consumable products for 2022
was approximately HK$0.2 million (2021: gross loss HK$3.8 million),
representing a gross profit margin of 5.6% (2021: gross loss margin
790.0%). The Group provided an allowance for inventories on slow-
moving medical consumable products for the year ended 31 December
2021, and it resulted in a gross loss for medical consumable products.
However, there was no such provision made for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$7.9 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$0.8
million, or approximately 11.3%, from approximately HK$7.1 million for
the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily due to an increase
of government grant and sundry income received during the year.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$5.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$1.6 million, or approximately 21.6%, from approximately HK$7.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. The unit cost for
transportation was lowered primarily because of the ease of lockdown

restrictions during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREnt IR iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approximately HK$130.7 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$4.4 million, or approximately 3.5%,
from approximately HK$126.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021. The increase was primarily due to an increase in pay scale to the
Directors and senior management during the year.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately
HK$7.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$0.5
million, or approximately 6.5%, from approximately HK$7.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The decrease was primarily due to
the repayment of interest-bearing borrowings during the year.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022
were approximately HK$10.9 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$5.2 million, or approximately 32.3%, from
approximately HK$16.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Such decrease was attributable to the approval of the "High and New
Technology Enterprises” status for the PRC subsidiary, which enjoys a
preferential tax rate of 15%.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$105.9 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$9.6 million, or approximately 10.0%, from
approximately HK$96.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19

In light of the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions over the globe, the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may be lowered. However, the Group
will keep paying close attention to the development of the COVID-19
pandemic and evaluate its impact on the Group's financial position and
operating results in order to make timely response and adjustments on
our business strategies as appropriate going forward.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$128.4 million (2021: HK$114.7 million). Interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
HK$128.8 million (2027: HK$235.3 million) with weighted average
effective interest rate of approximately 4.19% per annum (20217:
2.73% per annum). The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022,
calculated based on the total borrowings to the equity attributable to
owners of the Company, was approximately 18.9% (2021: 36.3%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transaction of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, U.S.
dollars and Renminbi. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange
exposures and to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations
by entering into foreign currency forward contracts, if necessary. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts. The Group will continue to evaluate the
Group's foreign currency exposure and take actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has made no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

B RIR 7

e X E

”B@’i\ﬂiﬁ R EH ARG R A RE
AREEMRE - Rt - NEEKEET Y
*f’%%ﬁmﬁﬁimf’%ﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁ CWEHEE S AR E
MBAREEERENTEARARAREEE H
1R BE K iy [ FE 30 4 3 PI RO SR AS SRR VR Ch B2 -

£
)7
&
g

DB ERMEEE

AEEBEUANSEENRESRERETELK
RITRENBITRELAEBEEREES -
R2022F12A31 8 AEE#HERS KRS

SEMM28LAEBIT(2021F : 11478 &
BIT) e PR2022F12 831 H stBERYA

1288 B BB IL(20214F 2353 5 &% L) » I

T ERERNRL B L19% (2021 F : FFIE
B273%) ° ers%lﬁézozzimﬂmaﬁ’aé%
ié1 RIGEREBERNREE AEGERSDN

ﬁﬁntﬂs 9% (20214 : 36.3%) °

b B Pz

AEENEREERBBEARERRFETEMN
B XRETMARBFE - AEBRBTEHE

EIMERBIFERERIMERR - WL E
R #EZ R NSRBI G AR EE X KB N

2o N20202F 128 B AEBHMEREE
INEIRERA 40 o REBBEETHEAREBAIN
P 0 e I 3780 P SR B e,

EXWEREHESER

HE202F12A3BIEFE AEBETERH
PRI B A E RS A RNEARKBERHEEE -

AREEZFRERAT | w

zozzﬁﬁiﬁ \\



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREnt IR iR

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2027 Nil).

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, certain buildings, machineries and equipment
and right-of-use assets in respect of the prepaid land lease payments
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately HK$431.1 million
(2021: HK$340.9 million) and key management insurance contracts with
fair value of approximately HK$31.6 million (2027: HK$30.5 million) were
pledged as security for bank facilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2022 which
may have a significant effect on the assets and liabilities or future
operations of the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group has 1,081 employees as at 31 December 2022. The Group's
remuneration policy is to compensate its employees based on their
performance, qualifications and the Group's operational results. The
total remuneration of employees includes basic salaries, performance
bonus and share options. Directors and senior management of the
Group receive compensation in the form of fees, salaries, allowances,
discretionary bonus, share options, defined contribution plans and other
benefits in kind with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and the performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses its Directors and senior management for expenses which
are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of services to
the Group or executing their functions in relation to the operations of the
Group. The Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages (including incentive plans) of its Directors
and senior management, by reference to, among other things, market
level of remuneration and compensation paid by comparable companies,
the respective responsibilities of its Directors and senior management
and the performance of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group dose not have any firm intention or specific plans for material
investments or capital assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries have not purchased, redeemed
or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2022.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK2.0 cents
per share) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company at the close of business on 16 June 2023. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 30 May 2023. The
final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 27 June 2023.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report of the Group
refers to the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEX ESG Reporting Guide”) to define its report content. The areas
of focus of this report include environmental and social performance
in various aspects. We endeavor to provide a balanced, honest and
transparent account of our performance. The data disclosed in this
report is prepared and provided by the respective administration
departments of Huizhou factories of the Group. Disclosure content of the
ESG report has been reviewed and confirmed by the Board.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The scope of this ESG report includes the Group's office operations in
Hong Kong, namely Tian Chang Industrial Limited, Sun Leader Mould
Industrial Limited and Tian Hong New Materials Technology Limited.
In addition, operations of integrated plastic solutions, manufacturing
of electronic cigarette (the “"e-cigarettes”) products and medical
consumable products in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") are
also covered in this ESG report, which included Tian Chang Industrial
(Shenzhen) Limited* (KRB Z(XINER A Huizhou Tian Chang
Industrial Company Limited* (/| miﬁ,\iﬁﬁi , Sun Leader
Mould Industrial (Shenzhen) Limited* (7 FiEEE (ORI) ﬁlﬁ ), Sun
Leader Mould Industrial (Huizhou) Limited* (FTF3E R B & 2 ( _\JII AR

/2 &]) and Tian Hao New Materials Technology Limited* (KZFT M
(FEMBBRATF)

The Group considers that the above subsidiaries are relatively significant
from environmental and social perspectives, therefore, the relevant data
from these subsidiaries are collected and included in this ESG report.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd., Tian Chang Investments Limited, Sun
Leader Holdings Limited and Tian Chang Holdings Limited are excluded
from this ESG report as they have no business operation and thus their
contributions are immaterial to the Group.

Reporting period: 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022

*

For identification purpose only

s *I‘
('4 % Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES B ¥ 5 A1

Reporting Principles Application

EREAI EA

Materiality To identify the material ESG-related issues to the Group, we conducted stakeholder
engagement to identify and prioritise material ESG issues in our business operations.

B2 RERUAEEREEXE0EE  RMET THNE2ENEEREBEEBHHME

Quantitative

1t

Balance

i

Consistency

—B

REFERENCE GUIDELINES

BREEFERSE HeaMERHE -

Quantitative metrics are disclosed in this report to keep track of and evaluate our ESG
performance. We measure and report Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs") across our
environmental and social performance with the aid of a data monitoring system. Through
the reporting of these KPIs and information in our report, we disclose elements that have
greatest impact to our business and stakeholders. In addition, we disclose historical data,
including those from the base year of 2021, to compare our performance and present our
progress over time.

ARECEEENEET  ULHEMAERMANRE e RERKRR - RMMNBEERE
RIRGERERRANRERE SERNBRERUER([KPL) - BBERFHRESD
ERZEARERIEFERER  BARBEHEBRENEZESROEE - 1 - F M
WERLEE - B1E2021 FEEFNEE - UL FIE R IR IR IR FAPIHE R E m S
HHERZ o

This report provides an unbiased disclosure on the Group's ESG performance by highlighting
both achievements and challenges on ESG management.

FBRREBFRE HEREAEENNRLKE  AREQEMRBEAEEORE
e RERRR

This report is prepared according to the ESG Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong to provide consistent and comparable disclosures. We would provide
explanation to any changes to the calculation methods or KPIs used, if any. In addition,
we disclose historical data, including those from the base year of 2021, to compare our
performance and present our progress over time.

ARERBEBHIMBELNRE  HEREAMEESIGEYE  FERE - BETLRY
BE - BB EMERNGE AN ERERIEZRNETMEE (NG )RR - 1N
BMREREL SR - 8152021 FEEFHNEIE - ULLBRMARIR IR IR FIBERE
HSH)ER o

B2EHER

This report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out ~ ATREHFEBERFBH AL SHFIER A B EH
in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under ~ FH#RBI([ EHRE DHEE—++iRE 1
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock ~ RE AMREIES| |FAERI[ BT HLAREE |53 -
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). If there are any ¥ HFIMNIRE &M EARRE B T &
enquiries related to our ESG report, please email to info@hktcgroup.com. & * s58 2 # = info@hktcgroup.com °
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OVERVIEW
CORE VALUES/MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

The Group always strives to promote sustainable development in its
business operations. The Group takes environmental protection into
account in their business operations and tries to strike a balance among
economic development, the environment and society.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving
future where we can create long-term value for our stakeholders.
We maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders, including
management, employees, customers, suppliers, business partners,
charity groups and investors, to receive their comments and understand
their expectations on what the ESG issues matter most via meetings,
interviews and discussions. We tried to reach our stakeholders through
all channels and consider ESG issues that are deemed as important by
both the Group and stakeholders as material ESG issues. Together with
certain SASB Standards suggested for Chemicals industry, our identified
material ESG issues are:

#5E
BMEEE, EERA

AEBARERETSRAFERRNTTZE -
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Area Aspect
ol M
Environmental Air Emissions
RE R
Use of Resources
iR A
Waste Management
REW R IR
Social Health and Safety
e fREEMZ 2

Product Responsibility

EmAE

Community Investment

HE2E
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MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has a clear organizational hierarchy to carry out different
parts of operations within the Group. The Board is responsible for
overseeing long-term sustainable development for all operating
companies under the Group, determining the Group's ESG approach
and supervising the relevant department in providing relevant policies
with appropriate measures. Furthermore, in order to attain the goal of
sustainable development and meet the stakeholders’ expectation, the
Board will ensure a close cooperation between all departments and
formulate a clearer ESG objectives and targets for the Group.

The Group has achieved ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 certifications, the
ISO department under the Board is mainly responsible for reviewing
ESG strategies and policies and act as a coordinator to oversee ESG
performance in our factories and operations. The ISO department sets
2021 as the baseline for the target reduction of different environmental
performance with the Board's approval. The ISO department also closely
monitors and assesses the achievability of the targets. In addition,
information and management on sustainability risks and performance
is reported to the Board by the ISO department, through meetings
annually.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group is well aware of the effect of environmental
performance to our business, especially for daily operational
challenges regarding greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission reduction,
energy conservation and waste management. Therefore, the Group
managed to minimize the environmental impact by setting up an
environmental management system.

The environmental management system was established
in accordance to ISO 14001:2015. Also, the Group have an
environmental data collection system to keep track of the
performance and monitor the efficiency of the measures adopted
in the past years.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)

The Group complies with all national and local laws, regulations,
and other related industrial standards, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes and the Law of the PRC on Appraising of Environment
Impacts.

The business operations of the Group did not undergo any major
changes in the reporting period. We comply with the latest
environmental-related laws and regulations in the regions we
operate.

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS

Apart from the above-mentioned compliances with the national
and local laws and regulations, the Group has put additional efforts
in regulating gas emissions, waste generation and usage of water
during the daily operation. The Group has established “Procedures
for Managing Wastewater, Exhaust Gas and Noise” which outlined
the daily procedures on reducing emissions on site.

Gas Emissions

The major business for the Group is providing integrated plastic
solution services, manufacturing of e-cigarettes products as an
original equipment manufacturer ("OEM”) and manufacturing of
medical consumable products. The operation of injection molding
machines is identified as the major gas-emitting source in the
operation site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Gas Emissions (Continued)

During the reporting period, the GHG emissions (Scope 1)
decreased from 411 tonnes in 2021 to 157 tonnes in 2022. In the
meantime, direct emissions from stationary combustion decreased
from 338 tonnes in 2021 to 92 tonnes in 2022. The decrease was
because the PRC government imposed a restriction on the usage
of electricity in 2021, the Group had to use diesel fuel to generate
electricity. While there was no such restriction during 2022, hence,
the use of diesel fuel decreased significantly in 2022. The Group
has set a target of reducing carbon emissions by 10% by 2030,
with 2021 set as the baseline. To achieve that, regular checking
on the motor vehicles and production facilities are conducted to
ensure their energy efficiencies and the exhaust emissions comply
with the national standard. Furthermore, the Group endeavours
to raise employees awareness on energy saving, for instance,
employees are encouraged to turn off the unnecessary electrical
equipment (e.g. lighting and air conditioning) after work, take
public transportation and stop the car engine while idling. In
addition, when purchasing the machineries, the Group will choose
the one with high energy efficiency certification and power-saving
modes. Gas emission data will be obtained quarterly to assess
the GHG emission level and monitor the progress of the reduction
target. If any irregularities are found, the ISO department will
investigate the reasons for the fluctuation and suggest appropriate
measures to relevant department. In the meantime, the ISO
department will report the issues to the Board immediately. The
Group will closely monitor the GHG emission level and strive to
alleviate the environment impact.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) A. BRERFE®
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued) BEAT1 BB
Major Gas Emission Indicators T ERBEHIIEIE
Air Pollutant Emissions ERITERYHEN
Direct Emissions Unit 2021
BEEEWRE B 20214
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 43.48 51.76
REALPINOY NI
Sulphur Oxides (SO.) kg 0.37 0.40
e b ¥(s0,) T
Particulate Matter (PM) kg 3.42 3.57
FERLYIHERL(PM) N
GHG Emissions " by Scope REEE S HREREHERM
Direct Emissions Unit By 2030 2021
BEEERE B F2030F 20214
Total GHG Emissions t-C02 eq. 19,359.61 21,522.16 21,510.68
BERBAYNE W =S ks £
GHG Emissions — Scope 1 t-C02 eq. 369.54 157.49 410.60
BE RS —#EN WS LiRE =
GHG Emissions — Scope 2 t-COz eq. 18,886.37 21,254.92 20,984.86
AERBEYEN—#HE2 M —fLiRE &
GHG Emissions — Scope 3 t-C02 eq. 103.70 109.75 115.22
REREHEN—#E3 M—SftixE =
(1) GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and was (1) BEIBHERBBEA-—SLtREEZY

based on the information of the "GHG Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standard” issued by the World Resources Institute and the
World Business Council for Sustainable Development, the “Government
emission conversion factors for greenhouse gas company reporting”
issued by the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs in
the UK, the "Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas
Emissions and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or
Institutional Purposes)” issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department (EMSD) and the Environmental Protection Department
(EPD) in Hong Kong and "How to Prepare an ESG Report?, Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs" issued by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Major Gas Emission Indicators (Continued)

GHG Emissions by Source
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RAEE =)

EAT  HERs)
FERREHIEIZ ()
BRRFEDHBRERBHEN

Total GHG Emissions Unit By 2030 2021
=R AP E ==L v2 £ 20304F 2021 4F
Direct emissions from t-COzeq.
stationary combustion 304.17 91.96 337.97
BB — EERE —SE(tiREE
Direct emissions from vehicles  t-CO2 eq. 65.37 65.52 72.63
EEHR—ER WE—fbiE 8
Indirect emissions from t-C0O2 eq.
electricity consumption 18,886.37 21,254.92 20,984.86
B —AE W — S LIRE &
Indirect emissions from flights t-CO2 eq. 0.58 0 0.64
B — ML A% WE—SbiE S
Fresh water emissions t-COz eq. 65.20 67.24 72.44
I FER — K WE S LIRS 2
Sewage treatment emissions t-C02 eq. 31.27 33.86 34.74
PR — 57K R 1 WE—SEEE
Other indirect emissions t-C02 eq. 6.65 8.65 7.39
E b BER WE—SEiE S
Major Emission Intensity FTEHHRERE

Emission Intensity (per million revenue) Unit 2021
HEmaE (B & Tilias) B 20214
Total GHG Emissions t COz eq./million HKD revenue 18.81 19.25
IRERBATNE —atimE e BmEE Tl
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (conTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Waste Management

The Group has a well-established system to handle various types
of waste (hazardous and non-hazardous). The disposal of waste
within the operation sites complies with the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes,
the Measures for the Administration of Permit for Operation of
Dangerous Wastes, the National Hazardous Waste List and other
related laws and regulations.

“Procedures for Waste Management” is established to guide the
employees on how to dispose hazardous and non-hazardous
solid waste properly. For hazardous waste, all chemical wastes
are properly stored in a designated indoor warehouse on site
with secondary containment to prevent leakage. The removal
of chemicals on the ground requires the use of specific cloth or
sawdust to clean the site. And all the hazardous waste is collected
by authorized collectors. For non-hazardous waste, some of
the recyclable waste such as toner cartridges and batteries are
separately collected and handled by external recyclers. The other
general waste is stored in refuse area and collected by local
environmental and hygiene department. The Group has tried its
best to prevent any contamination of the underground water.

During the reporting period, the Group recorded approximately
60 tonnes of construction waste (2021 668 tonnes), representing
a decrease of approximately 91.0% from that of the same period
in 2021. The decrease was primarily due to the completion of the
new factory in 2022. The Group has also set the waste reduction
target as reducing hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 10%
by 2030, with 2021 set as the baseline. In order to achieve the
reduction target, we will reduce waste generation at source
through reduction. For instance, the Group encourages our
employees to reduce the use of non-recyclable and disposable
products. The use of office copiers and printers is restricted to
reduce paper consumption. Recycling bins are placed in the office
and the factories to encourage staff to develop proper waste
sorting habits. Monthly waste data at our factories will be obtained
to keep track of our waste reduction and recycling performance and
oversee the progress of the reduction target. If any irregularities
are found, the ISO department will investigate the reasons for
the fluctuation and suggest appropriate measures to relevant
department. Meanwhile, the ISO department will report the issues
to the Board immediately.
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED) A. BREAFE®

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued) B AT - B

Major Waste Generation Indicators FEEZEYEIE

Waste Types BEEyER

Waste Types Unit By 2030 2021
REEY R B Z 20304 20214
Hazardous Waste Tonnes 29.77 22.67 33.08
BEEEY A

Construction Waste Tonnes 601.02 59.55 667.80
BEEEY i

Waste Intensity BEYELRE

Waste Intensity (per million revenue) Unit 2021
REEYEERE (SR ETWE) B 2021 4
Hazardous Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.02 0.03
BERBEZEY MR, B EE TS

Construction Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.05 0.60
BREEEEY) 1= Ry Tl ey
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CoNTINUED)
ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

In a bid to lower the environmental risk for our business, the
Group promotes resource efficiency by establishing “Procedures
for reducing usage of resources and energy”.

The Group hires professional and certified electricians for the
maintenance of the electricity system on site. The use of electricity
is recorded on a monthly basis. The resources consumption
efficiency target for energy usage, including electricity, gasoline
and natural gas, was set to reduce by 3% by 2030, with 2021 set
as the baseline. The Group also encourages the employees to
reduce the consumption of resources.

Water

Water is not the major component in the manufacturing process
because the Group focus on using injection molding and other
waterless techniques. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented
measures to lower our consumption of water for operation and
domestic use. The Group strictly complies with the Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Urban
Sewage Treatment Plant Pollutant Discharge Standard and other
related laws and regulations.

The Group has regulated the handling of water discharge during
operations. All sewage is connected to the government sewage
pipeline and transferred to the local sewage treatment plant. The
Group has no issue in sourcing suitable water. The water efficiency
target was set to reduce the consumption by 3% by 2030, with
2021 set as the baseline. To achieve that, the cooling water system
of the Group adopts recycling and reuse measures. The Group
monitors the system daily to prevent any leakage. In addition, the
Group conducts wastewater quality monitoring annually.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES (Continued)

Water (Continued)

Major indicators for resource consumption

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

A. BEFEE

EBEA2 : ERFER®
k)
FEEFEHEIEE

Resource Consumption

ié;/ \5%%%

Unit

BAL

By 2030 2021
220304 2021 4F

Electricity

B

Gasoline

JUH

Natural Gas
KRR

Paper

Aok

Water

i

Packaging materials (Note)
BEME (H77)
Plastic Recycling
BRI O 2
Paper Recycling
KmElE

Kilowatt hour
T B
Litre

}I_

Cubic metre
AV N

Kg

/NN
Tonnes

Mg

Tonnes

Mg

Tonnes

Mg

Tonnes

Mg

32714121 34,164,752 33,725,898
26,486 24,627 27,305
32,553 33,687 33,560

N/A 1,803 1,540
TEH
168,512 161,244 173,724

N/A 1,753 1,697
NEm

N/A 339 388
TEH

N/A 74 56
NiEH

Note: The packaging material here refer to Paper Carton Box which is the

major packaging material.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES (Continued)
Water (Continued)

Major Resource Consumption Intensity

REFHEG®
BHEA2 : ERFEHE
k@)

TREREREE

Resource Consumption Unit 2021
BIREFE B 2021 4F
Electricity kWh/million HKD revenue 29,866 30,175
E Wi TERE BEBTHkE
Water kWh/million HKD revenue 141 155
K TR, BEBTlE

ASPECT A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group considers all related environmental risk during the
planning of its business development. We are committed to
applying industry best practices and comply with legislation,
review and improve the environmental management system as
well as maintain effective communication with stakeholders. Apart
from the daily operational activities which generate emissions and
consumes resources, the Group is not aware of any significant
environmental issue in the business activities during the year.
The Group will pay attention to relevant laws and regulations
and review the strategies and policies. We will also assess our
manufacturing process and machines regularly in order to
minimize the impacts on the environment and natural resources.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CoNTINUED)
ASPECT A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is one of the most vital issues over the decade.
Global warming gives rise to extreme weathers including
rainstorm, floods, droughts or other natural disasters.
Corporations and governments have the responsibility to cope with
the climate change.

The Group establishes different environmental measurements
and promotes energy saving habits in the factories to mitigate
the risks brought by climate change. We have identified that the
natural disasters due to extreme weather, such as typhoon, fire
and flooding may have an impact on the Group. The extreme
weather may endanger the safety of employees, disrupt the
supply chain and increase the risk of property damages. For the
sake of managing the potential threat, the Group conducts safety
inspection regularly and establishes emergency plans to minimize
the loss from natural disasters. In addition, the Group has
strengthened employees’ awareness and improve their emergency
response capabilities through regular emergency drills. Apart
from this, the Group has insured relevant insurance to reduce the
losses from natural disasters. The Group will continue to review
the impact of climate change in the future.

For transition risks, the Group had considered some major risks to
their potential financial impact. Expansion of our risk assessment
portfolio to include climate-related risk assessment is expected to
better incorporate transition risks into our strategy planning and
future business portfolio.

Transition risk type

2 2 [ B 3 B

Risk/Opportunity Driver
Rk HEESEE
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Potential financial impact

BENMBEE

Policy and legal Stricter requirement on

manufacturing operations

BRAER HEERIFABIRNEXK

Market preference & Technology Increasing demand on low

carbon products

T 5 {4 L5 HHEHRE du A 75 I8 D0

Increased capital expenditure
on machineries

B INHEER B AN

Increased in research &
development costs
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT

In order to achieve the business targets and to drive innovation,

the Group relies on a talented workforce of 1,081 employees as at
31 December 2022 (2021: 1,065). The Group's employees turnover
rate in monthly average was approximately 5.8% for the year (2027:
4.6%). The total workforce sorted by gender, employment type, age
group and geographical region categories, are shown below.

e xR
BEB1: fE

BTEREKER  WHHEIHER -
R2022F 128318 KEE % H 1,081
H(20214F : 1,0655)BFHREE - T
AREENFHYAERERKAENAEL8%
(2021 : 4.6%) - L\ TAIRMER] - BT
Al - FheE R ME S FEHE TN -

Distribution of employees ==batiii 2022 2021
Number of Number of
people people
2022 F 20214
N AH
All employees *RES 1,081 1,065
By gender ZHERIE D
Male B 619 608
Female I 462 457
By employment type RRKERNES
Other staff HEMET 940 923
Management EEE 141 142
By age group BFERARE D
18 -30 18 - 30 5% 188 218
31-50 31 - 505% 804 776
51 or above 5158 A £ 89 71
By geographical region Rt EE D
Hong Kong BB 20 20
PRC H 1,061 1,045
Average monthly employee turnover rate ¥ B EEERLR 2021
20214
%
By gender B4R D
Male S 5.1% 4.5%
Female I 6.6% 4.7%
By age group RERA BB D
18-30 18 - 307% 15.5% 8.8%
31-50 31 -5075% 3.9% 3.7%
51 or above 51 mRa A E 1.7% 1.4%
By geographical region R EE D
Hong Kong B 0.4% 0.8%
PRC Y 5.9% 4.7%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued)

In a bid to maintain continuity of performance for the Group and
reduce turnover rate, the Group conducts exit interviews with
resigned staff to understand the reasons for resignation and
to address the concerns of existing employees. In addition, to
promote fair working environment and employment practices, the
Group sets up a management system to evaluate salary reviews
and promotions, the system includes assessment of employees’
performances, capability and contribution to the company.

The working hours of the employees are set as 8 hours per day
and five working days per week. Upon the approval from the
human resources department, the employees can be arranged
to work overtime with a maximum of 3 hours per day and shall
not exceed a total working hour of 60 hours per week. The Group
also states the off-work periods of the employees and provides
them paid leaves as remuneration benefits and welfare. Trainings
are also provided to all employees, details please refer to the
“Development and Training” section below.

The Group provides free housing and meal to the employees
in Huizhou. In order to promote diversity in our workplace,
the Group's "Management Procedures on Anti-Discrimination”
endorsed by the human resources department provides a clear
structure on a fair employment practice during recruitment. The
policy clearly states that any discrimination on race, gender,
religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, age, sexual
orientation and gender identity are strictly prohibited during the
employment process. The procedure also clearly sets out the
standard operation procedures when discrimination practices are
detected in workplace. Trainings are provided to eliminate any
discrimination practices among employees. If any discrimination
or harassment reports are received, the Group will establish
a working group to investigate into the incident. The Group
is honored to receive the SA8000:2014 Social Accountability
Certification that recognizes our socially acceptable practices
in the workplace. The Group tries their best to provide a better
working environment to the employees.

The Group strictly complies with the related laws and
regulations, such as Cap. 57 Employment Ordinance, Cap. 480
Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 487 Disability Discrimination
Ordinance, Cap. 527 Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Cap.
602 Race Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labour Dispute Mediation and
Arbitration Law of the PRC and other related local labour laws and
regulations. During the reporting period, the Group is not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
employment, discrimination and welfare.
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued)

During the year, the Group held various of recreational activities
for staff to promote employee’s work-life balance.

tERR
BEB1 : ¥

RER AEBERETIRNZBRETE
B DMt R 8 TIFEAE T o

HR KB AR FI B
Mid-Autumn Festival staff benefit

BRERE
Fun Games
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The employees’ health and safety are one of the Group's top
priority items, therefore, the Group implements “Management
Procedures on Health and Safety” to eliminate all potential
safety hazards and ensure a safe working environment to
protect employees from occupational injuries. The management
procedures cover all manufacturing operations in the factories
and highlight the safety requirements for the suppliers. The safety
committee conducts risk assessment of the factories and identify
all potential health and safety hazards. The representatives of
the committee also tailor a health and safety educational and
training programme to all employees. In addition, all supervisors
from different departments are responsible for monitoring the
workers to prevent accidents and providing training on the proper
operating procedures to workers. If there are any operating
procedures that may endanger the workers' safety, supervisors
shall immediately report to their seniors and carry out remediation
process to reduce all potential hazards. Furthermore, if there
is any malfunctioning of machineries, workers have to report to
their supervisors. All passages along the working area are strictly
prohibited for storage and workers are not allowed to leave the
machines running while away. During the reporting period, there
were 6 cases (2021:5) of work-related injuries, and a total of 334
hours (2021: 1,294 hours) of lost working hours were recorded. No
work-related fatality cases were reported in year 2022, 2021 and
2020.

Apart from our internal management procedures, the Group also
complies with relevant local laws and regulations, including Cap.
509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and the Measures for the Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries. To prevent the outbreak of fire within the operation areas,
the security guards have to patrol the building site daily, such as
dormitory, factories, garages, lavatories and kitchen. They will also
ensure all equipped fire extinguishers are functioning properly.
The human resources department will guide the fire safety
committee to carry out one to two fire drill practices annually.
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (conTINUED) B.
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY (Continued)

Lastly, in order to offer a healthy workplace environment to
all employees, the Group demands a clean and tidy working
environment in all operation areas. Ventilation machines are
switched on during working hours to ensure sufficient air
ventilation indoors. Sanitizing equipment and tools are provided
among the dining areas and spitting is strictly prohibited in the
factories. The Group also circulates notices to the employees to
take precautionary measures during peak seasons of influenza.
We believe all the aforementioned procedures can safeguard the
employees’ health and safety and minimize all potential workplace
occupational hazards.

JBhEE
Fire Drill

B BmRREE

Contingency drill on chemical
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group has stipulated the "Management Procedures on
Development and Training” for in-house training and distribution
of work, which lists out the requirements and performance
indicators to enhance the employees’ occupational skillset and
quality. It also reinforced the development and training systems
to ensure all programmes are carried out in a smooth and
continuous practice. The human resources department is also
responsible for the instructions of job duties of each position and
formulates an annual training development plan.

The Group tailors different training courses to the employees.
Comprehensive pre-job trainings and orientation programmes
are provided to the new employees to introduce the company's
background, culture, regulations and safety requirements. New
employees are also subject to on-job trainings offered by their
reporting departments. Trainings are provided to newly promoted
employees to enhance their practical skills and adaptability in
new positions. The Group invites external institutions to organize
training courses to the employees regularly. Human resources
department will revise the annual training programmes in
accordance with the reviews and feedbacks of each department.
During the reporting period, the Group provided trainings to
1,827 (2021: 1,655)staff. Total training hours were 9,318 hours
(2021: 6,366 hours). Average training hours per employees were
8.62 hours (2021. 5.98 hours). The Group believes the vocational
training practices will allow us to nurture a better, sustainable
working environment and learning atmosphere to the employees.
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Percentage of employees trained FZHE T 2021
2021 FF

By gender R 8l o

Male S 55% 57%

Female gegis 45% 43%

By employment type BEBKENE S

Other staff Hth8ST 91% 87%

Management EEE 9% 13%
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B. SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (coNTINUED) B. E&RHR»

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING (Continued) BEB3 : #EMZI (@)

Average training hours received BB I FEIEINEE 2021

per employee Hours
20214

N

By gender B8l

Male B 7.2 4.7

Female 74 10.5 7.6

By employment type EREENE S

Other staff HEMET 8.6 5.3

Management BIEE 8.9 10.4

On-Job Training
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly abides by all labour-related laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC, including Cap. 57
Employment Ordinance, Cap. 485 Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes QOrdinance, Cap. 509 Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Cap. 608 Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor and the Law of the PRC
on the Protection of Minors. In addition to the compliance of the
labour-related laws and regulations, the Group has established
“Management Procedures on the Prohibition of Child Labour”.
Human Resources Department is not allowed to hire child
labour, who are aged under 16. During the recruitment process,
identification check is conducted, especially for those junior
workers who are aged between 16 and 17.

In case any child labour, our employees shall report to the
human resources department directly and senior departments
for immediate verification. The Group will report to local Labour
Department without delay. The Group is committed to protecting
human rights, to prohibiting forced labours, and to creating a
workplace with respect and fairness for our employees. During the
reporting period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant rules and regulations on preventing child or forced
labour.

ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To ensure that the Group's products fulfill the expectations of
customers, and to minimize any potential environmental and social
risks from our suppliers, the Group has established "Management
Procedures on Supply Chain” to select qualified and outstanding
suppliers. The Group also adopts the sustainable and responsible
selection criteria to promote environmentally preferrable
products. The procedure grades all suppliers by relevant rating
systems: outstanding suppliers are rating from 90 to 100 and
suppliers with rating from 65 to 89 are classified as pass; while
the rest are considered failed. The purchasing department is
responsible for managing all production and nonproduction
services suppliers. The ISO department is responsible for the
assessment of suppliers. Apart from these, the Group will visit the
suppliers regularly to ensure that the suppliers comply with the
environment, health and safety standards.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (cONTINUED)
ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (Continued)

During the engagement process, the Group will assess all potential
suppliers based on their certification of management systems,
company profile, manufacturing procedures, status of production
and inspection equipment, environmental control and the
applicable operation or production license of certain hazardous
chemicals. Besides, the Group will select the suppliers who
have attained the certification of 1S09001:2015 or other related
documents. All samples and products have undergone applicable
quality test on-site. Inspection is carried out bi-annually for
suppliers rated as outstanding; while annual inspection is carried
out for suppliers rated as pass.

The table below shows our number of suppliers by geographical
region during the reporting year:

tERR
[EMEBS : HEEEE»)

FZEEBREY  AEBBREEEEER
& RNREN  BIERE  AENBERR
BiR - BIEBIEHFERCEREERT
BRI EYRNFA BERERTEE
BIEEER - i AEBSRECES
1S09001:2015 FR7E Sk H Ab AR B8 S (Ao pE
o AEBReNHMAEERRNERETRS
mE R - R AEFHMHER -
MEET—INBE - MERETAEEEN
HpEn - BIBFET—ARE -

TRETERSFEANRIMRE 5 HE
BEA

Number of suppliers

HrEREE
Regions hE 2021
20214
Hong Kong B 101 99
PRC s 1,449 1,333
Others Hib 35 25
Total e 2 1,585 1,457

ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

To protect consumer data privacy and other confidential
documents, the Group strictly follows Cap. 528 Copyright
Ordinance, Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and
Interests and has established clear instructions on how to prevent
leakage of confidential documents and effective management
of documents. The “Management of Confidential Documents”
classifies all documents into three broad categories: A, B or C
grade, based on the extent of sensitivity of the documents. The ISO
department is responsible for the classification, management and
distribution of documents. During the reporting period, the Group
did not record any personal data breach or leakage case.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual
property rights. The Group will not plagiarize the design of
other organizations. The employees are required to maintain
confidentially of the Group’'s technology and trade secrets,
considering all such properties belong to assets of the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
complaints or non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in relation to the intellectual property right.

The Group also complies with related national laws and regulations
on product safety. The Group will provide our best effort to ensure
our products are of top quality by conducting regular checks.
Besides, the Group also adopts responsible advertising and
labeling manner to minimize customer dissatisfaction. The Group
has implemented “Procedures on Information Exchange” to ensure
Operation Department are responsible for the product quality and
safety.

The Group understands the importance for customers’ opinion.
In order to understand customers’ needs and meet their
expectations, the Group has formulated different communication
channels to collect their feedbacks, which include telephone,
e-mail and daily communication. The quality control department
is responsible for handling customers’ feedbacks or complaints.
The Group is committed to improve customer satisfaction and
maintain a long-term relationship with them. When there is any
dissatisfying product quality found, the quality control department
will carry out follow up action on a timely basis. Proper measures
will also be adopted to prevent the issue from happening
again. During the reporting period, there was no material claim
or complaint brought against the Group by our customers.
Meanwhile, the Group had not experienced any material litigation,
return on sales, recalls, or repairs from our customers during the
reporting period.

RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

tERER )
[EHEB6 : EMEE®)
K‘Elmak ‘J%ﬂ%?%ﬁ’]i%lﬁ KEE

SYRHMKENRN - BTIAHAE
I&ﬁ]&ﬁéﬁ%%ﬂéi%ﬁ - KT EE B

AEBEE - EMEHHE - AEEIL T
DS R A ERORRER AR
KRR TERIER

AEETETHBARKEEML T HA
MEERMER - AEEITE a3
Y EE mn PAREER G — R © MLSh - REE IR
RALHEOESRMEETA  BERD
ER®ONm - AEEHIE TIAER AR
Fl RERZESNMAYERMENL S
BE

AEEPAREPERNEEL - RTHE
FPHZEENMERMMNEE - RXERTIE
TRKBBRBEREMMNER  &F
BEE: BHRAFIN mEHEE
BREEPHERINKRSF - AEBBNES
EPHmEREREMPIERRENRBER -
ERBREMNEREETRNBERN  BES
2 AR - T HREUEE AR HELART b
FEBEREEE - EREHE - AEE
WRBWE B P ERNREHIZEF °
A - oS HEASEIRFEMER
A HERE - QRISKEPHERE o

AEEEZEREREAR | w

zozzﬁﬁiﬁ \\



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group expects the employees to carry out their work in a
responsible and honest manner. The Group strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, including Cap. 201 Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, Cap. 615 Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the
PRC and its Judicial interpretation, the Criminal Procedure Law
and its Judicial interpretation, the Interpretation on Several Issues
Concerning the Applicable Laws to Handling Criminal Cases of
Embezzlement and Bribery, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the PRC. In addition, the Group's "Management Procedures on
Anti-Bribery” applies to all entities among the corporate in order
to regulate all business activities.

The Group embraces responsible business practices and we
expect high moral standards and integrity from the employees and
business partners. To prevent employees from any malpractices
that may potentially threaten the Group's interest and reputation,
we regularly remind our employees to comply with the code of
practices. Anti-corruption training is also provided to directors and
employees annually. Besides, it is clearly stated that all capital and
assets of the Group shall only be used in a legal and appropriate
manner. Any forms of bribery, extortion, fraud, money-laundering
and embezzlement are strictly forbidden. Employees are allowed
to report on any suspicious misbehavior of unethical businesses
to the senior management directly. The Group has implemented
its whistleblowing policy, which shall be reviewed periodically by
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and approved by the
Board, with proper mechanisms in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters, as well as for appropriate follow-
up action. All whistle-blowing procedures are conducted in a
confidential manner and the Group will ensure all measures are
undertaken to protect the privacy and identity of the whistle-
blower. The Group accepts zero tolerance to any dishonesty and
unethical business behaviors if any violation is found, the Group
will report to the government authorities in accordance with the
law and the involved employee will be penalized immediately.

During the reporting period, the Group did not observe nor receive
any legal cases regarding corrupt practices.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

As the Group believes that corporations and communities are
inseparable as a whole, therefore, the Group is committed to
support the community development by various means of social
participation. The Group strives to create a positive corporate
culture by setting up a voluntary team to coordinate community
services for social and environmental protection areas. During

the reporting period, the Group donated money and supplies of
approximately HK$233,000 to different charitable organizations
to combat the COVID-19 epidemic and to support the people with
disabilities and people affected by the earthquake. The Group will
continue to devote more resources to contribute the community.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 62, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Chan is an
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for formulating corporate strategies,
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of the
Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of all of the Company's subsidiaries.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited
("Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole
proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the Company, and
Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company. He
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Chan is also
the director of the holding company of the Company, namely, Oceanic
Green Group Limited (“Oceanic Green”), New Strength Ventures Limited
("New Strength”), Gold Alliance Ventures Limited ("Gold Alliance”) and
Treasure Line Holdings Limited ("Treasure Line").

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa, aged 60, is an executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Poon is primarily
responsible for financial planning and management and overseeing
the accounting department of the Group. Ms. Poon has over 20 years of
experience in financial management, accounting and taxation working
in professional and commercial accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from The University of Hull
in the United Kingdom, and a Master's degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an
associate of The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Poon joined the
Group in May 2008 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary in April 2017 and executive Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 33, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group and
responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part of the business
and developing the Group's customer base and is the key personnel in
developing the Group's e-cigarette business. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's
degree in Commerce from Curtin University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr.
Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NG Chi Wai, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director.
He has over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate management. He has worked at the audit department of two
international accounting firms and he has held senior management
positions in different listed companies. He is currently a practicing
director of CN CPA Limited. Mr. Ng holds a bachelor of art degree in
accounting and finance from Leeds Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has joined our Group since May
2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 56, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a
consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner of Messrs.
Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016. Mr. Hung has
over 27 years of experience in handling legal matters in the areas of
conveyancing, mortgage finance transactions, commercial contracts,
acquisition of shares, matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate
agents disciplinary inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group
since February 2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree
with honours and Postgraduate Certificate in Law from The University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 76, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 50 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder of a
company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive line of audio
and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking or accessories and
other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM customers. Mr. Chan has
joined our Group since February 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREHRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Chen-Tong, aged 66, joined the Group in December 2015, is
the technical consultant to the Group’s research and development
department and he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
development and manufacturing of new products and quality control.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked as senior management in
Taiwan and Hong Kong companies where he gained vast experiences in
product design and development. Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor’'s degree in
Electronic Engineering from National Taiwan Ocean University.

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 50, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to joining
the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 15 years of experience
in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in
Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and Master of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 28, joined the Group in October 2016, is the
vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for the
development and marketing of new products of the Group. Mr. Chan
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business & Management from
The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is the son of
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an
executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure that
the Company's business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
(as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's corporate
governance practices, which will be further illustrated in this corporate
governance report for shareholders’ evaluation. The Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save
and except for the code provision C.2.1. Details of the deviation from the
code provision C.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the "Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company's senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company's securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Year. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Company during the Year.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, none of
the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the
practice under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, where it provides
that the two positions should be held by two different individuals, as
Mr. Chan has considerable experience in the enterprise operation and
management of the Company, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to continue
to have Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board so that it can benefit from
his experience and capability in leading the Board in the long-term
development of the Company. From a corporate governance point of
view, the decisions of the Board are made collectively by way of voting
and therefore the chairman should not be able to monopolise the
decision-making of the Board. The Board considers that the balance
of power between the Board and management can still be maintained
under the current structure. The Board shall review the structure from
time to time to ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one third of
the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

& "L"'
(' T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

—/ Annual Report 2022

EE®w
BIFEHITES

REREE
//\1QE§E$
PRI

E=RBRERBES) AR RE £ AR AR
BRARRBELNMALEBAS - RELD
MA BYFRTESERAALEBATH
e -

ARREERBEEMFIINAFERS(EER
BREERE |FE o BRRBEMZ L BREMTE
Zxo  BEEREKEERERE

IEREEYTE

REMTEE(TRELED RARREFTEEFER
BFRATE - BEHBERECEERTRIC.2
fifk <7 BB ST P AR TE Yo% IR B AS TR R — A
IREREE  BR ARREERARFD
TEKEREET ORRLENKR  MES
ERREBERRCERTIETEIENAAR

AREERRERNRENRZ  MERBEESS
FENEERENBEAS A AR ERFNE

BHZs HOEEEANAEE  EZTHR
REBARERKANFAEL - WEREAE
FIEFENRE -EFTERA - RITLHEE
REESCHEEE - ARINTE -EFg
FEREEAR AT sZ 451 - AR AT 72 & ZAFERER
RE MR o

B EXFTIRETEEI - HZE2022F 12 A31H1E
FE o ARFDETOESARTH -

BAFHITES

RER EFE-—EBENELMRUFI0R
SIAGERMEZEE=2BIINTEZT(LHES
BANBEL =N ) REREL—ZHREE
EXERN ST UMY HEEERIRE



THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board and they are invited to serve on the board committees of the
Company. Through active participation at board meeting, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

The Company has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive Director
is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
three months’ written notice. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of three years, which
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than one
month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
board composition, monitoring the appointment of directors and
assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
In addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
after appointment, and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for
re-election by the shareholders at the respective general meetings.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam and Mr. Hung Chun Leung will retire at the AGM
pursuant to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing paragraph.
All the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee
recommended their re-appointment. The Company's circular, sent
together with this annual report, contains detailed information of the
above retiring Directors as required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and financial
performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their proper duties
and act in the best interests of the Group and hold discussions on
various important and proper businesses of the Company in a timely
manner. All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters
that should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda of
the board meeting. When the Board delegates different aspects of its
management and administrative functions to the senior management, it
has given clear directions in relation to the scope of powers of the senior
management, in particular, with respect to the circumstances, the senior
management maintains regular communications and report of progress
to the Board. The management shall provide members of the Board and
specialised committees under the Board with appropriate and sufficient
information in a timely manner so as to update them with the latest
developments of the Group and to better facilitate the discharge of their
duties. The management team is accountable to the Board, executing
the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and making decisions
in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group. The management
reports monthly to the Board on the operation and financial performance
of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s corporate
governance policies which include:

(a)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
the directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
= i corporate governance report.
46 % Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Training, induction and continuing development of Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials and attended a training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest in the Group.
Such induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange
and fund the training in accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code.

All directors have provided to the Company a record of the training they
received during the Year. Participation of continuous training of the
Directors and the nature of training are set out below:
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Reading journals,
publications and/or
other materials and

participating seminars
on various topics

(Note 1)
FEREASEELTE
WHIT - HARER R,
Httmr B RS EMNE
(Btst 1)
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRI E(E/E) v
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EBEM LT 4
Ms. Chan Yin Yan PRAEM T 4

Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHITEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REREE v
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HRER A v
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PRRPE S v

Note 1:Topics include without limitation the Company's business and corporate
governance matters.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Meeting

During the Year, four board meetings were held and the attendance
records of individual Directors are set out below:

EE®w

EEge;

RER BRTOANEZTeSH SEZLE
FEEHINT

Annual General
Meeting held
Attendance/ on 30 May 2022

Number of 720225
Board Meetings 5H30H
HE EEE BITHRE
BEXE BEXE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIEMIEE (L E) 44 1/1
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EEIRNZ T 44 1/1
Ms. Chan Yin Yan BRAER 2L 44 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUFHTEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEEE 44 171
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE 44 171
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR P ST 44 1/1
Board committees EEgZEyg
Nomination committee BEEZEEE
The Company established a nomination committee (the "Nomination ZARA AR 2018F2 AsHK IR EZE&([2
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in %éﬁgi) WRE A FEER TR 2 5P AR

compliance with code provision B.3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; (b) to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for directorship;
(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam; and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met once to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and other related matters of
the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
industry and regional experience and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors that
are set out in the Nomination Committee’'s terms of reference. The
Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure
that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

4 Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company; and

o Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

s "L"'
(' T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

/ Annual Report 2022

EFEgw
ExgZEgsW)
BEZESE(F)
REBBEE

ﬁfﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬂz%l%%ﬁfﬁ% Ao BRERZ
EeREREMIMNESRAERRFRL - 52
ZHEBEBRRNARRESR  UHEFZBERTE
RARBREBEARRANETAEERLIESTSR
SR ERAE -

REBREENHIARRREREZEESN
EAREF: IIBRAQRFNEZTSHKE A
BUEARRERENREE  EBREZTH
2 R(NBRESZNFEEREFSEESR
@,o

EHREREARCESS  EEZET
5 ER -

o mMIBEHIE

o B BREXRER - Kk MERENX
NEEBLEERBERNER  URE
EEREZTIEBREMBANZ TR
=

o AENEFLNEZILMEMEMAA]
FEEE:

s LtHRAFHEZSFEEBYEFNOR
E - A2 EmRRIME B S K
BARE WG DB

o« RRAEERE - B @R BIIERE
RIS AL A E A AR RBR M EFEE
A

s REBMEREEENRMENFHEEITHE
GREANRERTERER HETESS
ZEENZENRBE &

o HiEARARRERREEEIFE - K
BN IREZEGUERT %EH%T
B RERREETERAR RE
MERRAE -



THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination process

Appointment of new directors

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed

election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Re-election of directors at general meeting (Continued)

(iii)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Year are set out as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HEEBRE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRI E(EE) A
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HERKE /1
Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERLEE 171
Audit committee EREEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 February 2018 with ~ ZANA R 201842 A 8 EIWi%V% g8 Wik
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing & F TR BIE 321 1§D EE A~ Bl 2 51 Al§
Rules and code provision D.3 of the CG Code. MEDIGHFTEmMBEEE -
The duties of the Audit committee include, without limitation, (a) to %Vi/\ o)Ay &TEHE' TR )N a) B & E

review and supervise the financial reporting and financial controls; (b)
to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (c) to
review and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; and (d) to discuss the risk management and internal
control system, including the whistleblowing policies and systems for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Group, with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

The Audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun Leung
and Mr. Chan Bing Kai, all of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of the audit committee.

During the Year, the Audit committee met four times to review the
annual financial statements of the Company and the effectiveness of
the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the Audit committee
held during the Year are set out as follows:
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Attendance/
Number of
Meetings

HFE SRR

Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman)
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph E.1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The duties of the Remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, pursuant to
E.1.2(c) of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules; (c)
to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (d) to assess
performance of executive directors; (e) to approve the terms of executive
directors’ service contracts; and (f) to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Remuneration committee (Continued)

The Remuneration committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Bing Kai and Mr. Ng Chi Wai; and
one executive Director Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the
chairman of the remuneration committee.

During the Period, the Remuneration committee met two times to review
the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management. Details
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of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration committee @K ERAHELEEFMNEZESSZENFBN
held during the Period are set out as follows: N
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
HE SRR
Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PR SEE(EE) 2/2
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam RRIE MRS A 2/2
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REERE 2/2
DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD EEES L

Among the six Directors of the Group, two of them are female,
accounting for 33.3% of the Board.

Gender diversity of the Board:

AEEARBESET ME/XE HEFEH
33.3% °

ExeiRZTL

As of
31 December
2022
BZ2022%F
12A31H
Percentage of
total number of
Directors (%)

HEEAEAE

B (%)

Female pegics 33.3%
Male Ea 66.7%
Total FEE 100%
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DIVERSITY OF THE BOARD (cONTINUED)

The Board targets to maintain at least 25% of the directors being women.
As of 31 December 2022, the Board comprises 2 female members, the
Board considers its diversity of gender is appropriate. The Nomination
Policy can ensure that there will be a pipeline of potential successors to
the Board which continues the existing gender diversity in the Board.

The Group remains committed to meritocracy in the Board, which
requires a diverse and inclusive culture where Directors believe that
their views are heard, their concerns are attended to and they serve
in an environment where bias, discrimination and harassment on any
matter are not tolerated. Where necessary, the Board will work with
external agency to identify and approach suitable candidates that would
enhance its composition and diversity, with a view to expanding the
competencies, experience and perspectives of the Board as a whole.

GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE

Gender diversity of all employees (including senior management) of the
Group:
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As of
31 December
2022
BZE2022%F
12A31H
Percentage of
total number of
employees (%)
(approximate)

HEEHEAE
Bt (%)

(BHE)

Female 7 43%
Male B 57%
Total et 100%
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GENDER DIVERSITY OF THE WORKFORCE (cONTINUED)

As of 31 December 2022, the female representation of the Group
was around 43%, which is above the Board's aspirational target of a
minimum of 40% female representation. The Board considers that
gender diversity is currently achieved and is committed to maintain
gender diversity in respect of the workforce level through continuous
review of the gender ratio and recommend measures to allow more
females to participate in various levels of employment of the Group.

We strive to adopt a stringent recruitment process that allows us
to engage and develop staff. Our selection criteria include required
academic qualifications, personality, experience and skills. In addition,
we perform background checks and use interviews to determine an
applicant’s suitability prior to making recruitment decisions.

Our Directors confirmed that the Group was in full compliance with the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong during the Reporting Period. In
particular, the Group's policy relating to compensation and dismissal
of its employees adheres to the relevant provisions in the Employment
Ordinance.

The Group advocates a fair and open workplace and ensure that
employees are protected from all forms of discrimination against
gender, age, race, nationality, marital status, religion, etc. In 2023, the
Group will continue to sustain its inclusive culture where everyone has
the opportunity to grow and achieve their career objectives in the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under “Directors and Senior
Management” section in this annual report. The company secretary
undertook no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company'’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the Independent Auditor's
Report on pages 72 to 80 of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited, the Company's auditors,
in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 31
December 2022 are analysed below:

Ay =,
aOa =1
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F12AN ALEFENRBHRRNIZBEMNR
RENAFEREE 72 X 80 ARV B X EED
HER

HE2002F12ABIEEE B EBHNK
27&%%$%%%@5®5ﬁ%$%mﬁ@
NAIZE N IEZBRFEASTOT :

Fees paid/
payable
Types of services provided by the external auditors SEZEETIRENIREES BN/ ENEA
HK$'000
FET

Audit services fee for the year ended 31 December 2022 HE2022F12 831 BILFERN
RERGE 1,280

*

The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$251,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not Mazars CPA Limited).

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with
relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with
reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that the internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. The purpose is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group's business objectives.

Upon the Board's annual review, the Board considered the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programme
and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit, financial reporting
functions, as well as those relating to the Group’'s ESG performance
and reporting. The Board identified and evaluated the internal control
systems in respect of the Group's financial, operational and compliance
control. The Board will review annually the nature and extend of
significant risks, and the Group's ability to responds to changes in its
business and the external environment.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the size of
the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. The Group will
review annually the need for an internal audit function. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Board, through its Audit Committee
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems. The Board will review annually on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company's external auditor in respect
of the Group's internal controls and risk management and discussed
findings and actions or measures taken in addressing those findings.
The Company considers the internal control and risk management
system is effective and adequate during the year under review. No
material issues on the Group's internal control and risk management
system have been identified during the year ended 31 December 2022
which required significant rectification works.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed "Procedures for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”, may follow
the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early
as practicable to enable the company secretary to make necessary
arrangement.

Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as

follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial
Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Groups’ business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The Company adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”’), which sets out the channels
for shareholders to communicate their views on matters affecting the
Company and for the Company to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in particular,
through AGM and other general meetings. At the forthcoming AGM,
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent board committee are available to answer
guestions at the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company's business operations and development, financial
information and other information are available to public access.

The Board will review the Shareholders’ Communication Policy at least
annually to ensure its effectiveness. Having reviewed the different
channels of communication with shareholders, the Board is satisfied
that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented during the Year and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 30 May 2022, the Company adopted the amended and restated
Articles of Association to conform to the core standards for shareholder
protections set out in the updated Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules, and to
incorporate certain housekeeping amendments. An up-to-date version of
the Articles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 13 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was not aware of
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to our
sustainable development. We are committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with our employees, providing high quality products
and services to our customers and maintaining cooperation with our
suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity, and provide
competitive remuneration packages and career development
opportunities for our employees based on their performance and
experience. The Group also provides regular training and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include market
and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks. While
we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price quotations
accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any increase in the
price of raw materials to our customers in time or at all, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ERTHRE

EFTeMAREAEEHE2022F12A31H
IFFEMNFEERE MEBZEAWBHRE -

FERBREHORN

RRBNELEHR/REER - MBARMNE
LEBHNGREMBEMRMEE13

AEEBEERANFERESELAEESAIERE
HE I RFOREEAIEEEN W MDA
RUZTBMBRREERNFAEHASEE
% MASREARAREBERRETHBEINA
SERFANKER -

BTFHRERER

HE2022F12A31HILFE KEFETAE
BEMUAEB (B RKEEEATEZE
ANETHEAEEEZEET -

BER  #ERmKERZME

BMRAEE  BFREEEHRMOFER
BEMEE - RABHRRERRIRERT
B AERPREEEER RRYLRUEER
REGE{E -

BAREAFZ 2N TESAH - #BZ KL
REREZRANKBAREFRERAHEFD
ZHHEBEREXRREE - AKETRESR
RUEEHBIRBERERUNSRERA T HED
BRTENRHNERYRARKRSRELETR
RBRETHRRRARER -

FERERAFAMER

AEBEBENEZRR M THHPRREETS
KEATE R -

™ 35 [ B

BAPIE R R R ERRE R ER o &% I8
BRMBERALFELFHBERPIORE  ERM
AR R B S R RHE R e 138 & R 8
BYRMANTFPHRAELEE  ErAkeY
BPINES - BB REEREENERT
EZ -3

2022F F 3] \\

AEEBRBARAR | ;:\w =



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEBHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTINUED)
Financial Risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and
has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection in order
to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group's development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance report” on pages 14 to 39 of this
annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 191 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2022 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on 16 June 2023. The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid
on 27 June 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to be held
on 30 May 2023, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 24 May 2023 to 30 May 2023, both dates inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 23 May 2023.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (cONTINUED)

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 14
June 2023 to 16 June 2023 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the identity of members who are entitled to the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 13 June 2023.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past five
financial years are set out on pages 192 to 193 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company’'s share capital during the
Period are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the Period.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity on page 85 and Note 36(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam and
Mr. Hung Chun Leung will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years, unless
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one month’'s
notice in writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Related Party Transactions”
in this report and Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

At no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinances
(the "SF0")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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RAHBERRRE > NAFHERMEHEQTF
BB EM LS AAREEAHEREBER
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RS M -

EEREM HRERMRREENE
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RABERH  ARREZRTIZTHAER
AR A R ERRAE (& RCE S B EG)D
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Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company RAEQTFERTEBERNETRS
Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
shares of shares of Total percentage of
the Company the Company interests shareholding
Name of Director Capacity RAT PNV R RERA
EEHR g4 ROEE ROEE R Aot
(Note 2)
(K1az 2)
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled 373,395,000 - 392,875,000 63.4%
corporation (Note 7)
FBRIEMSE &£ Ryt EE S (Mt 1)
Beneficial interest 18,860,000 620,000
oy I
ChanYin Yan Beneficial interest = 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
PR FEMR oy
Poon Po Han Lisa Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
EEIR EmiEes
Hung Chun Leung Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
HER Ry
Chan Bing Kai Beneficial interest = 500,000 500,000 0.08%
PR R P BEmiEm
Note 1: These shares are held by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and ~ #7at 7 : ZERM VB E R 1+ & % K Treasure
Treasure Line, all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue Line#¥H @ ZE R BERBMNCERERS -
of the SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the shares held BIEE LR EIES - BRERLERREABRNE
by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line. 2577 &% KTreasure Line B M %% +
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Note 2: These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company

Number of
ordinary shares of

EENEG HEKROMRRESHE
= 16-)
RAEQATECRITEBRNERE (4

Hret2 - ZERMEARRRREBRESBI(ERR
TOERBZ BRAEEITER S TEITRIEEZ

et -
PR EXPRIEEESN  RARE AH - BiEAR
AEFRTBITRABRALR REARAE

(& RLBF LG GRS XVER) et - 185
Betn s fERERE T A IRIRRE 77 K BRI 352
[RECERN G IEM B M AR IOXE

SKBIRIRARAE ST R A& AN R A] RS PR R ol
POkRE o
EBRBREREMREARKAHERS

RAREBH  LTAT(RRAREERFET
BA BBRINRARR R M MAE RO F #EA IR
1REEF N EAE IEOIE 336 1RAR B0 8R A0 5Z IR P
BRELMARNELT

RAEARCRITEBRRNER

Number
of underlying
shares of the

Approximate
percentage of

the Company held Company held® Total  shareholding
Name of shareholder(s) Capacity e NG| ¥ NG| R #E
RERERE HE 514 ZERYE HERGHEHB® #wir #Esk
Oceanic Green™" Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
|2 EREBA 127,100,000 A% 1% ~ 127,100,000 %5 20.5%
New Strength™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
vk EREEA 127,100,0008% X 17 - 127,100,000/% %15 20.5%
Gold Alliance™ Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 shares - 94,395,000 shares 15.2%
" EnEAA 94,395,000 % 0 - 94,395,0008%8% 0 15.2%
Treasure Line™ Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 shares - 24,800,000 shares 4.0%
Treasure Line EREBA 24,800,000 /%1% - 24,800,0008% %5 4.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May? Interest of Spouse 392,875,000 shares - 392,875,000 shares 63.4%
gL Bt s 392,875,0008% A% 15 - 392,875,0008%8% 1% 63.4%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (cOoNTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

(3) These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members
of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 May 2019, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing reward to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Option Scheme include, without limitation, employees, executive
directors, non-executive directors, shareholders, advisers and
consultants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) BRERERTE o

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has the following & Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE - AR A ERIE
share options granted to the eligible participants under the Option  BRREFTEIMA BB EER B A TERAE

Scheme:
Options Options
outstanding Options outstanding Exercisable
as at forfeited as at as at
1 January during 31 December 31 December
2022 the year 2022 2022
R2022F R2022F
1A1H 12A31H 2022
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price M ARITHE FREK M ARITHE 128318
AEA RHAH TEEE YRS R YR R RE HO BB AR RE A FITRE
(HK$)
(Ex)
Directors, chief executives
and substantial shareholders
EE  FETHAE
REERR
Chan Tsan Lam 13 May 2020 0.355 620,000 = 620,000 620,000
PR IGEHR 20205 A 138
Chan Yin Yan 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 = 6,200,000 6,200,000
PRAEAR 202065 H13A
Poon Po Han Lisa 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 - 6,200,000 6,200,000
EEI 2020465 A 138
Hung Chun Leung 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 = 500,000 500,000
HER 20205 A 138
Chan Bing Kai 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 = 500,000 500,000
PR R 202065 H13A
Employees and senior management 13 May 2020 0.355 19,100,000 (1,250,000) 17,850,000 17,850,000
BEEREREERE 2020465 A13H
Service providers 13 May 2020 0.355 3,920,000 = 3,920,000 3,920,000
R i FE 20205 A 138
37,040,000 (1,250,000) 35,790,000 35,790,000

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued AR {E B AR AE 5T 8 K gk K A BT {r] H b BE A%
under the Option Scheme and/or any other share option scheme of the #EFtE| - AT B R BITHORMHEE LR A
Company is 62,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued shares 62,000,000 f% @ {5 &R SRR ERAET2IE B
of the Company as at the date of adoption of the Option Scheme and 10%  E 1T MDD B 10% M AR BIRARE B HE %
of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report. TP EY 10% o

None of the options granted to any employee participants would result BIER FEMEELXHBENBRESEHRNE
in the shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to =X H BH(BEZ B ) 1218 A BRI st A %

such person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms EZ/\:':EI'Jﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ(T\@ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁiﬂﬂx%ﬁi?ﬁm
of the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of  {EfAIEEA% ) B 31T RGBT M A 5HiB8
such grant to represent in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue. BEITRDEI 1% ©
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None of the options granted to any service provider would result in the
shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options granted to such
person (excluding any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the scheme) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant to represent in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of shares which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and remained
outstanding under the Option Scheme was 35,790,000, representing
approximately 5.77% of the issued shares of the Company. The number
of options available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit (i.e.
the total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all
options to be granted under the Option Scheme) as of 1 January 2022
and 31 December 2022 are 24,960,000 and 26,210,000 respectively,
representing approximately 4.03% and 4.23% of the issued shares of the
Company, respectively.

There is no sublimit on the total number of shares that may be issued in
respect of options to be granted to service providers under the existing
Option Scheme.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their compliance with
the non-competition undertaking provided in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the said
undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line have complied with the
non-competition undertaking since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 are disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions had either been discontinued before the
Company was listed on the Stock Exchange or constitute fully-exempted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Period is as follows:

FEERRMER

RAHE ERXEXFAMERSABEAE
B RIREEAERT

Percentage of the Group's total

EAEEUTRENE DL

Revenue Purchases

Wz HREERE

The largest customer BAEFP 48% N/A i A
The five largest customers in aggregate hAREFAEER 83% N/A i A
The largest supplier BAHER N/A A3 A 23%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate hAARHREEER N/A A3 A 53%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) had any beneficial interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur by the
execution of his/her duty, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

During the year, TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited resigned and Mazars CPA
Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company. A resolution to
reappoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Mazars CPA Limited, is to be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
i N7 % EX B 3R S
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To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the "Group”) set out on pages 81 to 191, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December 2022, and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

s *I‘
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1 37 1% BXEf 3k 25

REEFER

MRBTFHERERMANERAE - ReYH
AEEEAMBERERNBIARAEENEIR -
ZEFHRERMENTBRBEAMBRER L
ARRRETREN - RATSURFTFAEIRE
HEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RRETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5B R B EFE

Refer to Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements

BRI ARSI T 218

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$210,511,000
(after the loss allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") of
approximately HK$5,626,000), which approximated 17.5% of
the Group's total assets.

2022912 A31 8 - B S EIGIEREREEA) /A 210,511,000
BB RENEEFEB(EREEREDEEY
5,626,000/870)  1h BEBLEEMAI17.5% °

The management of the Group performed credit evaluations
for the Group's customers and assessed ECL of trade
receivables. The impairment assessments on credit-impaired
debtors and debtors with significant balances are separately
assessed based on the individual customer’s settlement
record, their current repayment ability, and taking into
account information specific to respective customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
debtors operated. In addition, the impairment assessment
on the remaining debtors are established with a provision
matrix with loss rates based on ageing of debtors, as well
as the Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information. Most of these assessments involved significant
judgements of the management of the Group.

BEEEEEEY BERENEPETEEFGLIGES
FEUFENEREEER - REBENTPOGEETE
MERMERENDRHEBHLEEERENEEARAR
BEREHNEBAETRENS - TEERBBTPIARE

BAEBFIREQERENABER - I HEBKEBKA
BRENAEBEARBEGARKIAN BEXEELRE

ML ERATEEER A ENERRE BBER - KEfnZ
LRy BEREEEENEAHER -

BEANEFFUNMEERREENSEE

Our key audit procedures, among others, included:
BB ETEFEE(HRaRE) :

e obtaining an understanding of the Group's credit risk
management and practices and the management's
assessment of ECL of trade receivables and assessing
the reasonableness of the key underlying information
referenced by the management of the Group;

TR BEEENEERREELREENEEEHES
ERRBENBEREREERETHNMG - XFE X
EEEEM2ENAREABENEEAIE

S in respect of trade receivables of which were
identified by management of the Group for
individually assessment for impairment, discussing
with management of the Group about the status of
significant individual debtors’ specific profiles and
risks, reviewing their current repayment ability and
challenging the management's assumptions used to
determine the ECL provision;

. BEEETEERN SERRER G2 E 2B
AmE 2 EREEEEIHEBENEFEAEX
REERZOR S BHES AERIAOR R B 2 E B - =6
PBEAMERE N REREREARETHAEE
EBERENRER

AEEBRBARAR | ;;\w =
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (ConTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

B 5B E R mEF I ()

Refer to Notes 2 and 18 to the consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

R A IR AN AL 2% 18 (8)

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter —
because of its significance of the balance. Furthermore, a high
level of management judgement is required in assessing the

loss allowance for ECL on trade receivables.

BRI LR =ERR A BERESFH - REASE

RE A

B o Mo - IR ERRERREHEAGE S UG IR

EEERAERRTE -

& "L"'
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REFEFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNETONEERARENSE

for those trade receivables whose credit loss were
established with a provision matrix, checking and
assessing whether the loss allowance for ECL was
properly supported by considering the debtors’ ageing
analysis and settlement records, history of bad debt
and available forward-looking information on a sample
basis; and

REVHNBBERFHEEBENZEE S RKIA

ME - REEEERE R HAREEBENEERR

f%%%%&%%%f%/\@?é“‘ﬁ RHECE - ERER
ASREEERMZAER &

considering the adequacy of the Group's disclosure
regarding the estimation uncertainty involved in
determining the ECL.

ER BERENETRIEEEBRMS R T HEE
HEENREREGRE °



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CoNTINUED)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Allowance for inventories

FRREE

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements

BRI AT 2817

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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REFTER®

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNETONEERARENSE

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of inventories Our key audit procedures, among others, included:

amounted to approximately HK$128,542,000, accounting
for approximately 10.7% of the total assets. There were a
decrease in net realisable value of certain raw materials,
work-in-progress and finished goods due to obsolescence
and/or diminishing marketability as a result of changes in
market condition. As a result, a write-down of inventories of
approximately HK$5,081,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

sl & Easd

BREESERE)

understanding the management's policy on
identification of damaged, slow-moving and obsolete
inventories and critically assessed whether appropriate
allowances had been made;

TRERBIRMRITIA - B RE T EOER

WERIG A 2 A EfEH B E B
R2022F 128318 FERMBMEXN 51285420008 T
WIRBEEMI107% - BETEME - ER G MKGRAIEIE
FERDTTERTRESHERMIGBE L HEER -

It REZE2022F 12 A3 BIEFE
BILENIERER -

 TFEMEE47 5,081,000

The allowance for inventories was made on the management's
review of the condition of inventories at the end of the
reporting period, and made allowances for inventories that
are identified as damaged, slow-moving and obsolete or no
longer recoverable. The inventory review was carried out by
the management of the Group on a product-by-product basis.
Allowances were made with reference to the latest market
prices and current market conditions, including incremental
cost directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
cost which must incur to make the sale which involves the
management's usage of significant accounting estimates and
judgements.

observing in the stocktaking process to understand any
damaged, slow-moving and obsolete inventories as
identified;

REERETETERATREMNSEHRINZE B
HERERFE ¢

evaluating the key assumptions, such as latest market
prices and current market conditions including
incremental cost directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental cost which must incur to make the
sale on a sampling basis;

R LT EERES  NEFTERENTR
FERBEIHEEERENREPRNESRIL HET S (B IESE BB R 18 2 Ak A R A1 I 84 BT EE £ 1Y
B BHERERE A ERKENTEFL c EREERE JEMERAE)

BREEEREEHFEETES Exlﬁ%%%%ﬂ?ﬁﬁ{g
RBATR(BEEEERBEIEERARBIEHHEECS R
EEEFEREANGTEFT RAE) TELRIFEERA)(FH
B -

AEEEZEREREAR | w
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (ConTINUED)

REFEFER

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

HARETEE EMNETONEERARENSE

Allowance for inventories (Continued)

FEBE ()

Refer to Notes 2 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

BRI ERTEIRARINT 2117 (80

We have identified the above matter as a key audit matter —
because of its significance of the balance. Furthermore, a high
level of management judgement is required in assessing the
allowance for inventories.

ﬁfFﬁH%L?)iL%IEE“E&%\JE*IEFﬂ%fk%ﬁ%lﬁ REAFEEREX
Bosh EREFREZEMASEHEANGTFERME -

& "L"'
(- T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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checking the utilisation of inventories across the
subsequent sales, on a sampling basis; and

RS ELEREERTFENEREBER : &

assessing the sufficiency of allowances and related
disclosures on inventories made by the management of
the Group.

S REETREATEREELERRERSE R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in 2022
annual report of the Company but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

L Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

We communicate with the those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 29 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: P05510

Annual Report 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

iRl m

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022F12 A31 BHILtFE

2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E F#& T T
Revenue e 4 1,143,941 1,117,688
Cost of goods sold B E R A (883,868) (863,830)
Gross profit ER 260,073 253,858
Other income HAb A 7,923 7,105
Other (losses) and gains, net HAb (B18) R FRE (7,669) 1,062
Impairment losses on property, Y% - R KR
plant and equipment BEEE 14(b) — (7,889)
Reversal of (Provision for) 2 5 WIS ERERRE
loss allowance on trade receivables (EiERE) 32 216 (349)
Selling and distribution costs SHE Ry SRR (5,795) (7,424)
Administrative and other TEREEMEERT
operating expenses (130,714) (126,290)
Finance costs BTG RN 7 (7,208) (7,667)
Profit before tax RRBE AR R 7 116,826 112,406
Income tax expenses i8R 10 (10,881) (16,142)
Profit for the year attributable to AT EREE AES
equity holders of the Company FRER 105,945 96,264
Earnings per share attributable to RATERFEAEWS
equity holders of the Company BREF (LLBWLYIR)
(expressed in Hong Kong cents)
Basic R 12 17.09 15.53
Diluted e 12 16.99 15.39

AREEZFRERAT | 8\
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
|||m émuk,\§

Year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE2022F 12 A31 BIEFE

2022 2021
2022 FF 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T T
Profit for the year FREF 105,945 96,264
Other comprehensive (loss) income: Hitt2mE (BB W= .
Item that may be reclassified A& ENIIABm s EE

subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation &R IME 2 E A HIE X =58

of foreign operations (66,607) 29,093
Total comprehensive income for RATERFEAEGER

the year attributable to equity 2HEINZEE

holders of the Company 39,338 125,357

s "L"'
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

in B HIFGINIA R

At 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M E FET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - B KA 14 664,999 764,841
Financial assets at fair value through BASEFTABZRN
profit or loss TRLEE 15 31,633 30,454
Finance lease receivables e R EHE TR 16 = 1,617
Rental deposits Heke 393 77
Deferred tax assets RIEFR IR B B 25 3,999 918
701,024 797,907
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 128,542 171,883
Finance lease receivables e R EHE IR 16 1,617 2,425
Trade and other receivables g 5 R E MK 18 237,368 252,346
Income tax recoverable AR B PT1S R 542 27
Restricted bank balances SR BRI T A A 19 7,152 7,780
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEY 19 128,368 114,667
503,589 549,128
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R HE A IR 20 252,383 288,133
Payables for construction in progress FENERETIERIE 21 9,020 20,168
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 22 121,491 216,003
Deferred income R = 23 1,455 1,561
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 2,027 10,638
Income tax payables FERETIS L 4,855 9,937
391,231 546,440
Net current assets REBEEFE 112,358 2,688
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERE 813,382 800,595

XREBRRERAR | w
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in e HIINA R

At 31 December 2022 72022412 A 31 H

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M E FET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Payables for construction in progress R TRERIE 21 6,238 7,309
Interest-bearing borrowings TEMER 22 7,322 19,278
Deferred income Ol 23 10,021 12,276
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 1,686 342
Deferred tax liabilities BEIEHIEBE 25 6,389 6,602
31,656 45,807
NET ASSETS BEERE 781,726 754,788
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital % 26 62,000 62,000
Reserves i 27 719,726 692,788
TOTAL EQUITY R 781,726 754,788
The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 191 were approved 2581 HZE 191 A M4 A WKWK 2023 F 3 A
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and 29 BEZE S eH# ENRFETIE - WHIATESE
signed on its behalf by REETL
CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan
BRIE IR R R TR
Director Director
EFE EFE

& "L"'
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

|||m

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

%

R

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZE2022F12 A31 BHILtFE

ADRERHEAREY
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation Share option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BA  ROBE EXRE LAERE AERE BRERE  RHEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T THL TR T THL THT
(Note 26)  (Note 27(a))  (Note 27(b))  (Note 27(c))  (Note 27(d))  (Note 27(e))
(MizE2e) (MEE27(a)) (BRE27(0) (R¥EE27(c) (BtaE27(d)) (BtRE27(e))
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1 810 62,000 34,203 77,810 28,196 18,259 2,047 415713 638,228
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - = 96,264 96,264
Other comprehensive income: Hip2mks
Exchange differences arisingon  BEFIMEEE
translation of foreign operations [} 2% - - - - 29,093 - - 29,093
Total comprehensive income FRE2EUELE
for the year - - - - 29,093 - 96,264 125,357
Transactions with owners: BREANRS :
Contributions and distributions &R
Appropriation of statutory reserve  1REUETE &t - - - 6,025 - - (6,025) -
Recognition of equity-settled BREREENRD
share-based payments (Note 28)  BN& R AR(A1:7 28) - - - - - 503 = 503
Forfeit of share options (Note 28) ~ B&RRIERUR (A7 28) - - - - - (45) 45
Dividends (Note 71) BREHzE11) - - - - - - (9,300) (9.,300)
- - - 6,025 - 458 (15,280) (8,797)
At 31 December 2021 M2021F128318 62,000 34,203 77,810 34,221 47,352 2,505 496,697 754,788
At 1 January 2022 M2022F1A18 62,000 34,203 77,810 34,221 47,352 2,505 496,697 754,788
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 105,945 105,945
Other comprehensive loss: HEih2EESE
Exchange differences arisingon B EINTEEAME
translation of foreign operations ~ Z% - - - - (66,607) - - (66,607)
Total comprehensive (loss) income FRZH (EE)
for the year stk sl - = - - (66,607) - 105,945 39,338
Transactions with owners: BREEANRS :
Contributions and distributions —~ HE R
Appropriation of statutory reserve 1R BUATE &6 - - - 853 - - (853) -
Forfeit of share options (Note 28) ~ BERRAEIR I (H7% 28) - - - - - (70) 70 -
Dividends (Note 71) BREHzE11) - - - - - - (12,400) (12,400)
- - - 853 - (70) (13,183) (12,400)
At 31 December 2022 M2022F 128318 62,000 34,203 77,810 35,074 (19,255) 2,435 589,459 781,726
o
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
|||m Iqﬁﬂllzﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE2022F 12 A31 BIEFE

2022 2021
2022 FF 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B5E F#& T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BT
Cash generated from operations KEMSHRE 29 168,637 122,722
Income tax paid BFERH (18,831) (28,447)
Net cash from operating activities RETETSHSFE 149,806 94,275
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received BUFE 928 794
Receipt of finance lease receivables LU ER i s it B AE E SR IE 2,425 2,425
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - HELEE
plant and equipment Fri5 5008 109 593
Receipt of government grants in relation WER B BB 2 -
to acquisitions of property, plant and TR 55 N w5 A MO U 47 B
equipment 209 4,574
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBEWE - FE &R&RE (4,958) (62,487)
Net cash used in investing activities RETHFMARSFE (1,287) (54,101)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
Dividends paid ERRE 11 (12,400) (9,300)
Inception of interest-bearing borrowings ~ ¥Ti&at 8 &R 31(b) 248,481 301,999
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings 1ﬁﬁﬁ+/u1 = 31(b) (343,090) (295,349)
Repayment of payables for construction — {EE R ERE TIZFT
in progress 31(b) (13,788) (18,317)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaRE 31(b) (11,386) (16,934)
Interest paid BAFE 31(b) (6,651) (7,253)
Net cash used in financing activities REEE TR S EE (138,834) (45,154)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and ReRBELEEYEM
cash equivalents (RD)FEE 9,685 (4,980)
Cash and cash equivalents at FUORERESEEY
beginning of the year 114,667 116,966
Effect on exchange rate changes EREEHNE 4,016 2,681
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRASRESEEY
the year 19 128,368 114,667

s ?\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2017 and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”) on 8 March 2018. The ultimate controlling party of the
Group is Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (the "Ultimate Controlling Party”),
who is also the chairman and executive director of the Company.
The registered office of the Company is situated at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.0O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The Company'’s principal place of business is situated at
Unit 6, 13/F, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "Group”) are principally engaged
in manufacturing and sales of electronic cigarettes products
("e-cigarettes products’) and medical consumable products,
and providing integrated plastic solutions in Hong Kong and in
the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). The details of the
subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure requirements under the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
("Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency
of the Company. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest
thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidatd financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2021
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year as set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2. FEEEFX®

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

RAFE] RIS BB R E%ER

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised REBEHRERNTEAEBBENHE]

HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BFEMBRELELE 1657 21E7]

Amendments to HKAS 16
E/E, =i /EHIJ 16?&21@5—[
Amendments to HKAS 37

SRIETT BRI RELL

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021
20214 6 A30 BIEEFEMABEHEES
Proceeds before Intended Use

BE AR Z S R0R
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

BERGETERE 7R &R [BITE HIRAR

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BB EERE IR MEF] BESMEAESR 2 1Rk

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

RN mEER 2 FEIE 2018 4F 2 2020 FF3E Hf

Amendments to HKFRS 1é: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions BB TSI EERZE 16 2 AEET - )R 2021

Beyond 30 June 2021 F 6 H 30 A1Z BB A < 2 &

The amendments exempt lessees from having to consider ZEBHReEABAVEERERENEE

individual lease contracts to determine whether rent concessions BH UETERFEMREEEEEE

occurring as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic are MESEEREHEB WA AM

lease modifications and allow lessees to account for such rent AREBEHSERAR  BOWIEHEER

concessions as if they were not lease modifications. It applies to AR - HiEAREHEm AR ENHEE

covid-19-related rent concessions that reduce lease payments due BE R A 2022%F 6 A308 8 2 Al

on or before 30 June 2022. The amendments do not affect lessors. BB ENK - ZEBFT U ERA
Ao

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant RNZE B R M RR M EEME

impact on the consolidated financial statements. Ao

Amendments to HKAS 1é: Proceeds before Intended Use BBEEERIE 16 952 155T - BETEHAT
ZFEE

The amendments clarify the accounting requirements for iTEA%% 5 ke 1R B 1E#EE Al

proceeds received by an entity from selling items produced while ETARPEERBEEMEENIRE ME

testing an item of property, plant or equipment before it is used CEIES ,fj’\IE ZEBRR BT RBEE

for its intended purpose. An entity recognises the proceeds from BT -  BRENERERNETMZEER

selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss RSB ZEEENRAE  WERS

and measures the cost of those items applying the measurement BEHEE 2R ER T ERFTE

requirements of HKAS 2. B AR o

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant RNZE B e MR EE M E

impact on the consolidated financial statements. -2

& "L"'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether
a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the
contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract.
Costs that relate directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (for example, direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts (for example, an allocation of the depreciation
charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3. Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018. The
amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to HKAS 37. The exception
has been added to avoid an unintended consequence of updating
the reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements Project - 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS 1: Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter

This amendment simplifies the application of HKFRS 1 for a
subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter of HKFRSs later
than its parent — i.e. if a subsidiary adopts HKFRSs later than its
parent and applies HKFRS 1.D16(a), then a subsidiary may elect
to measure cumulative translation differences for all foreign
operations at amounts included in the consolidated financial
statements of the parent, based on the parent’'s date of transition
to HKFRSs.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

2.

(

*

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Annual Improvements Project - 2018-2020 Cycle (Continued)

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of
Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing
the “10 per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities —
in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower
includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements. As currently drafted,
Example 13 is not clear as to why such payments are not a lease
incentive.

HKAS 41. Taxation in Fair Value Measurements

This amendment removes the requirement to exclude cash flows
for taxation when measuring fair value, thereby aligning the
fair value measurement requirements in HKAS 41 with those in
HKFRS 13.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
the financial assets at FVPL, which are measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

%
*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners
of the Company, in the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation, are measured initially
either at fair value or at the present ownership instruments’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
the owners of the Company and the non-controlling interest even if
this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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- NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in ownership interest (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest determined at the date when control is lost
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the
date when control is lost. The amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the disposed subsidiary
are accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
parent had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts
owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a
financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as appropriate
from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to its
recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intentded use. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to the profit or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as set
out below from the date on which they are available for use and
after taking into account their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, the cost or valuation
of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis and depreciated
separately:

Right-of-use assets
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BER - BEAHERZ BRABERER
B E  AMIER AR RERERE © i
ME - BERRBHEBE ZESBIHEETR
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Shorter of useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease

EREEE A A ARG sl R I B A & HARR
Buildings 50 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
BF 50 FRIA FEVIEEHARR (AR 1B E )
Leasehold improvements 20 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
HEMEXE 20F A FEVFREBAR (RIS ME)
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

EMEEEREE 54

Machinery and equipment 5-10 years

L INEY 5E104F

Motor vehicles 3years

AE 3F

Computer 5-10 years

B 5E104F

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.

Construction in progress represents buildings, leasehold
improvements, furniture and fixtures and machinery and
equipment under construction. It is stated at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when the

construction is completed and the asset is available for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Research and development cost

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred in
development activities, which involve the application of research
findings to a plan or design for the production of new or
substantially improved products and processes, are capitalised
if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources to complete
the development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost
of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in profit
or loss as an expense as incurred.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments
and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the
Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial
asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial asset and
either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain
control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its
continuing involvement and an associated liability for amounts it
may have to pay.

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair
value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets. Such trade receivables are initially measured
at their transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured
at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory FVOCI");
(iii) equity investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI"); or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the Group's business model for managing the financial assets
and the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business model for
managing them, in which case all affected financial assets are
reclassified on the first day of the first annual reporting period,
following the change in the business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
rental deposits, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, restricted bank balances and bank balances and
cash.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

2)

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL. They
are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend
or interest income is presented separately from fair value
gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group's financial assets mandatorily measured at
FVPL include the unlisted investments — key management
insurance contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus,
in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial
liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings, payables for construction in progress
and lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
(including interest expenses) recognised in profit or loss, except for
the portion of fair value changes of financial liabilities designated
at FVPL that are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities
which is presented in other comprehensive income unless such
treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive
income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the
near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL

only if:

(i)

(iif)

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases;

they are part of a group of financial liabilities or financial
assets and financial liabilities that are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or

they contain one or more embedded derivatives, in which
case the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a
financial liability at FVPL, except where the embedded
derivatives do not significantly modify the cash flows or
it is clear that separation of the embedded derivatives is
prohibited.

Derivatives embedded in a hybrid contract with a host that is not
an asset within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate

derivatives when they meet the definition of a derivative, their

economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those
of the host, and the hybrid contract is not measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis other
than financial liabilities classified as at FVPL.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
("ECL") on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost
and lease receivables to which the impairment requirements apply
in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific treatments
as detailed before, at each reporting date, the Group measures
a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial
asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL should be consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

i
Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

()

0

&

s, |
*

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument
while 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the past due information or
other credit risk characteristics.

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument's credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of Mandatory FVOCI, the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial instrument
that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In particular, the following information is taken into account in the
assessment:

° the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest
on the due dates;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument's external or internal credit rating (if available);

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

° actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the

longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability

of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

All financial assets, except for trade receivables and finance lease
receivables, are determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables and finance lease receivables, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each
reporting date and had established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having

granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset (Continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash
flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The
Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written
off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's procedures
for recovery of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For
classification in the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash equivalents represent assets similar in nature to cash and
which are not restricted as to use.

Revenue recognition

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when
the assets are let out and on the straight-line basis over the
lease term. Variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate are initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date and subsequently adjusted when such index
or rate changes. Such payments are recognised as income on
the straight-line basis over the lease term. Other variable lease
payments are recognised as income in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the assets while it is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of credit-impaired
financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is as
follows:

(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products;

(i) manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic products;
and

(iif)

manufacturing and sales of medical consumable products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a
performance obligation each promise to transfer to the customer
either:

(@) agood or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both
of the following criteria are met:

(@) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable
of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in
the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service
is distinct within the context of the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service
(i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as)
the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products and
medical consumable products are recognised at a point in time
at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are
delivered to customers and the title is passed.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e.
the customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer), in
determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
consideration for the effects of the time value of money. The
effect of the significant financing component is recognised as an
interest income or interest expense separately from revenue from
contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with
the rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and its customer at contract inception by
reference to, where appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the
contract (i.e. the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price
of the goods or services to the amount paid in advance or arrears),
the prevailing market interest rates, the Group's borrowing rates
and other relevant creditworthiness information of the customer
of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of
HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of
the significant financing component if the period of financing is
one year or less.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract is presented as a contract asset,
excluding any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely,
if a customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the Group
transfers a good or service to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's
right to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a
net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract
assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis.

For the business of manufacturing and sales of moulds and
plastic products, it is common for the Group to receive from the
customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before
the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for
such transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until
it is recognised as revenue. During such period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be accounted for as
the contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation. Contract liabilities in
relation to advances from customers are recognised under “Trade
and other payables”.

For the business of manufacturing of e-cigarettes products and
medical consumable products, the Group's billings to its customer
which are largely in line with the timing of revenue recognition and
no significant contract assets or contract liabilities are recognised.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”’). Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC
whose functional currency is Renmenbi (“RMB”), the functional
currency of the Company and its other subsidiaries is HK$.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency
("foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented, are translated at the closing rate at the end of
each reporting period;

° income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rate;

° all resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a
monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment
in a foreign operation are recognised as a separate
component of equity;

° on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a
disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation
and a disposal involving the loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to the foreign operation
that is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or
loss on disposal is recognised;

° on the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation which does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences
recognised in the separate component of equity is re-
attributed to the non-controlling interests in that foreign
operation and are not reclassified to profit or loss; and

° on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in
the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, is
calculated using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which the
related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period of the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there is
any indication that its property, plant and equipment (including the
right-of-use assets) and the Company's investments in subsidiaries
may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest
group of assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-
generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred, net of any investment income on the
temporary investment of the specific borrowings, that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the periods
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs
that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an
asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and
is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases
and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a separate
component are considered to be part of the total consideration
that is allocated to the separately identified components of the
contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at
the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

(c)  anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the right-of-use
asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”,
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

the same line item within which the corresponding

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date of
the contract.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

FESHBE®
HE @
1EBRTAN ()

AEBARELEBAKE D < BN FRIAR
BIED L E B # BB BRI KD 2 42
REz2—=D -

AEBREERG A RRACHEEENR
HERE -

ERREET R A%
B

THsE - A

(a) MHEREBENIRESE

(b) MFMBEHHZAERANEREE
5 WmEC W EFREESES

() AEEELANTMNBEEKAL:
K

(d) ANEEFRKEEBREBEEE - KE
HRE EMEIS A H R & E Ik
B =M E R S AR AT R AR R

FTEEWMBFKRA @ BRIFZFRA
DREEFEMEL -
bEt& ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬁizﬁﬁj&%%ﬂﬁ%&

REPREREFE
B EFEHAR - E’\ﬁﬁH%ﬁFZTEHH
RAEr A AERUABREE RE) RER
SRETIRITE o

REERME - BB R&E 27 ERE
BE  MRE27EERAEEE(HES)
MEREE RZ25

HEBBNENEOMMGBEBERANZ
MENFREETNGEE

AREEZFRERAT | w

zozzﬁﬁiﬁ \\ : :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

i
Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

=0

2

*

s, |

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;

(b)  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

()  amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d)  exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

(e)  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee, the
in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other than floating
interest rate). In case of a change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the Group
remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of the
lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. If the

carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and

there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease

liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of the
remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the lease,
the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease
and recognising any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of the lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

2. FEEEFX®
HE @
1EBRTAN ()

AEEKHEE

1,5 Zi*ﬁn-l_iéﬁﬁﬁﬁwu

HEMREEZAR - WEMAEEERT

B

N

LEZAMERGBHERE—FH
AEBBRIBETEREAENRAE

2RI ST -

fWEIRATIER - HEEHRAEREBHE
N
(a) ZIEBCEBEN—AKIA LHEBE

EZEREMBEARERE &

(b) FHEREEMZEEHEEREEK
HEHEZBIERERARMET
BHZIBERME B ERETZ
EEE A -

EREERTARNEEERERBEES

BEHEEARE

(a) ZAEBEREELAEHBIESRER
BOREEIETEH -

(b) AEEETELETEHIHEERS-

) AEBEBANEEITHERFERALZ
1EFT AR IR R E ST E I FUETT
BN EHFEHERE -

d) MEREEsHE s HEEHMS

rAEBBBABOEREEEZRE
BEREEABZEMFEAR A
RIREAKZELILZHERNE
S EREAEEY KRB EAL LLZ
THEER 2 s B iR -

BATERMEEENRME  A%HE
BEREEREEEFDARAE
HHEHERBEZEMAEALK -

AEEEZEREREAR | _ﬁ\

zozzﬁﬁiﬁ \\ : :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

i
Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

(]

4

*

s, |

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is
classified as an operating lease if the head lease is a short-term
lease to which the Group has applied the recognition exemption.
Otherwise, the sublease is classified as a finance or operating
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components of the
contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor - finance lease

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as
receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so
as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases. The Group applies
the derecognition and impairment requirements in HKFRS 9 to the
net investment in the finance lease.

The Group accounts for a modification to a finance lease as a
separate lease if both:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Leases (Continued)
As lessor — finance lease (Continued)

For a modification to a finance lease that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group accounts for the modification as follows:
(a) if the lease would have been classified as an operating lease
had the modification been in effect at the inception date, the
Group:

(i) accounts for the lease modification as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification; and

(i) measures the carrying amount of the underlying asset
as the net investment in the lease immediately before
the effective date of the lease modification.

otherwise, the Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 9.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements
in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Ordinance”), for all of its employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries,
subject to a cap in accordance with the MPF Ordinance.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Employee benefits (Continued)
Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the reporting period. The
Group's obligations under the MPF Scheme are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their
services in the current and prior periods. The obligation is
calculated using the projected unit credit method and discounted
to its present value and after deducting the fair value of any
related assets, including those retirement scheme benefits.

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group's employees, including directors of the Company,
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered services in
exchange for shares or rights over shares. The cost of such
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value of
share options granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a reserve within equity.
The fair value is determined using the binomial model, taking into
account any market conditions and non-vesting conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the vesting conditions are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the entitlement of relevant employees to the award is no
longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-market vesting
conditions (“vesting date”). During the vesting period, the number
of share options that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed.
Any adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for the year of review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the reserve within equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where that fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
entity obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
The fair values of the goods or services received are recognised as
expenses (unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for
the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, any deferred
tax arising from initial recognition of goodwill, or other asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss is not recognised.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be
utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
undistributed dividend, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a holding company of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies: (Continued)

(iii)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the

Group.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the

entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes

subsidiaries of the joint venture.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the executive
directors of the Company for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM"). The Company's executive directors and the chief
executive officer, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have been
identified as the CODM that make strategic decisions.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and judgements
are made by the management of the Group in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements. They affect the application
of the Group's accounting policies, reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They
are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience
and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Where
appropriate, revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period of revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives of the Group's property, plant and equipment
based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions.
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result
of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

The management of the Group determines whether the
Group's property, plant and equipment are impaired when an
indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment, which is based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The fair value less costs
of disposal was determined by the management of the Group
using the cost approach and/or sales comparison approach,
as appropriate. Fair value which is determined by using cost
approach requires an estimation of new replacement cost
of the assets from which deductions are then made to allow
for physical deterioration and all forms of obsolescence
and optimisation. The fair value using sales comparison
approach is based on available data from observable market
prices of similar assets less incremental costs of disposal.

Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets at FVPL

As disclosed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, the financial assets are related to the unlisted
investments in key management insurance contracts
and the fair value at the end of the reporting period were
determined with reference to the respective surrender cash
value of each insurance contract, which is primarily based
on the performance of the underlying investment portfolio
together with the guaranteed minimum returns, reported by
the bank on a regular basis.

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position cannot be
derived from active markets, they are determined by
reference to the surrender cash value. The inputs are
taken from observable markets where possible, but where
this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required
in establishing fair values. The judgements include
considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Loss allowance for ECL

The management of the Group estimates the loss allowance
for trade receivables and finance lease receivables by using
various inputs and assumptions including but not limited
to risk of default. The estimation involves high degree
of uncertainty which is based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade
receivables.

Allowance for inventories

The management of the Group reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for inventories that are identified as obsolete,
slow-moving or no longer recoverable. The management
of the Group carries out the inventory review on a product-
by-product basis and makes allowances by reference to the
latest market prices and current market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain where the final tax outcome of these matters may
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded
and such differences will affect the income tax and deferred
tax provision in the period in which such determination is
made.

Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities — as lessee

The Group uses the lessee's incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit
in the leases are not readily determinable. In determining
the discounts rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate
that is readily observable as the starting point and then
applies judgement and adjusts such observable rate to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.

Critical judgements made in applying accounting policies

Property, plant and equipment used for generating rental
income

The Group has developed certain criteria in making
judgements whether certain properties used for generating
rental income are qualified and recognised in property,
plant and equipment. Certain properties comprise a portion
that is held to earn rental income, and another portion that
is held for use in the operation of the Group's business. If
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. The properties are investment properties only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services. Judgement is made in an
individual property basis to determine whether the above
criteria are so significant that property does not qualify as
investment properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are

FESHBE®
BB HREERNRIREE

RS EMBERERER - BAEREA
SEEMTIRAFERRER - A%

not yet effective for current year, which the Group has not early

adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1
BBGERZE 157 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 8
BASFAERAE 8 R 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB GTERE 125 21857T
HKFRS 17

BB BHREERIFE175R
Amendment to HKFRS 17
BBMIBIREELE 17 R 2185]

Amendments to HKAS 1
BBGERZE 15, 2185]
Amendments to HKAS 1
BASFERAE 198 2185]
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEBMBMEEAFE 1698 21E5]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BB REEBFE10RLEESHER
F 285 ZIERT

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 i

B3R AT A 0 R T B TR RS
eI

Disclosure of Accounting Policies !
BETHCRHEY
Definition of Accounting Estimates ")
iRt 2ERY
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction 1"
HE - HEANEEMABEBRTEMSFHY
Insurance Contracts "
REgEH0
Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information 1"
BAEAEBVBHREENE 17 R REBVEMEERE 955K
— LB RO
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
HEEDEAREHIERE
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants @
M REmIERE A E Y
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback @
EREADNNEEaEY
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture ©¥!

REFHEBENRRAEBLRZHANEELESTEY

202361 A1 Bz &R/ FEHM

HER

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 @ R2024F 1 A1 Bz & MBI FE M
0

] The effective date to be determined 3 A AT

ARBEEBHN AR EAZEFNAT

The directors of the Company does not anticipate that the
application of these new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being identified as the CODM, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods delivered. No operating segments identified by
the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacturing and
sales of moulds and plastic products.

3) Medical consumable products segment: manufacturing and
sales of medical consumable products.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from manufacturing
and sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs, reversal of/provision for loss allowance on
trade receivables, write-off of property, plant and equipment, loss
on disposal of property, plant and equipment and impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment incurred by each
segment without allocation of other income, other losses and
gains, net, administrative and other operating expenses, finance
costs and income tax expenses. This is the information reported to
the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° segment assets include certain property, plant and
equipment, finance lease receivables, inventories and trade
receivables. Other assets are not allocated to operating
segments as these assets are managed on a group basis;
and

° segment liabilities include trade payables and contract
liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating
segments as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results by

reportable and operating segments:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Segment revenue
Gross profit

Reversal of loss allowance
on trade receivables
Write-off of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Selling and distribution costs

Segment results

Unallocated income
and expenses
Other income
Other losses, net
Administrative and other
operating expenses
Finance costs

Profit before tax
Income tax expenses

Profit for the year

BZ2022%F12831H
IEEE
DEBU S

EH

5 R KFRE
BEFHRED

ER N E St

HEME - BER
REBEE
SHE R AR

NEEE
ADERARFZ
HiA
HiERFaE
THREMEERX
BTSN

BR B AT 1
PR IRI S

FRE R

E-cigarettes
products

E7EER
HK$'000
7

553,226

ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ)

AT RAEEARE REED el R
KB

Medical
consumable

Integrated
plastic
solutions Total
—RxE
R R
HK$'000
THERT

products

BREER st

HK$'000
TR

HK$'000
TER

587,126 3,589 1,143,941

113,001

146,875 197 260,073

(413)

216 - 216
(574) - (574)

(6) =
(5,774) (21)

(419)
(5,795)

112,588

140,737 176 253,501

7,923
(6,676)

(130,714)
(7,208)

116,826
(10,881)

105,945

AREEZFRERAT | \

zozzﬁfﬁiﬁ \\ : :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

E-cigarettes

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 3. SEE#Exe
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DI R R EE )
Integrated Medical

plastic ~ consumable

products solutions products Total
—Ebre
BT EEMR BATR BEERER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FAT FHET FET
Year ended 31 December 2021  EZE2021F 12 A 31 H
HEE
Segment revenue D EbdE 634,271 481,366 2,051 1.117,688
Gross profit (loss) ENER) 137,416 120,245 (3.803) 253,858
Provision for loss allowance B 5 EWGRIE
on trade receivables BiERE - (349) = (349)
Write-off of property, plant mE - BER
and equipment B g (20) (422) - (442)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMRESR
plant and equipment - (236) = (236)
Impairment losses on property, 1%  BE MR EH
plant and equipment HEBE - - (7,889) (7,889)
Selling and distribution costs SHERDHMA - (7,424) = (7,424)
Segment results DEEE 137,396 111,814 (11,692) 237,518
Unallocated income KRR AREZ
and expenses
Other income HA 7,105
Other gains, net H sz 558 1,740
Administrative and other THRREMEERT
operating expenses (126,290)
Finance costs BT A AR (7,667)
Profit before tax BREE AR A 112,406
Income tax expenses PIES Db (16,142)
Profit for the year F Rz 96,264
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3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2022/

72022%12A831H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E-cigarettes
products

ETEER
HK$'000
F87

Integrated
plastic
solutions
—@{xE
BRA R
HK$'000
THERT

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

SEBEE B
PHEERERS

Medical
consumable

products  Unallocated

BRHER
HK$'000
TR

RAE
HK$'000
TR

Total

st
HK$'000
TR

Year ended S BE2022%F

31 December 2022 12A3BLEEE
Assets BE
Reportable AHENHEE

segment assets 64,026 554,377 17,730 568,480 1,204,613
Liabilities af
Reportable segment wmEHMaE

liabilities 77,619 100,178 - 245,090 422,887
Other information HpER
Capital expenditure EwNGET 1,200 2,612 - 8,695 12,507
Depreciation e 3,798 37,752 2,126 5,958 49,634
Write-down of FEMsE

inventories 940 4,141 - - 5,081
Research and TEER

development expenses 16,359 16,598 - - 32,957
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

3.

=

0

&

-y
'\

Bl % ¥ 2% Bl 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. #WEH
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) THEEREE®
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic ~ consumable
products solutions products Unallocated Total
—BBbx
BETEER BRARR BEEMESD ROl et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FHET FHET FET
At 31 December 2021/ 7202112 HA31H
Year ended SEE2021F
31 December 2021 12ANBLEFE
Assets BE
Reportable segment AENHEE
assets 153,683 570,159 23,287 599,906 1,347,035
Liabilities af
Reportable AEENHEE
segment liabilities 140,104 70,356 - 381,787 592,247
Other information HpEw
Capital expenditure EwNGET 2,058 17448 - 61,416 80,922
Depreciation e 4,388 38,399 2121 6,107 51,015
Write-down of FEMsE
inventories - 3,421 3,907 - 7,328
Research and THEER
development expenses 17,620 13,000 246 - 30,866
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 3. #WEH
Geographical information wEER
The following table sets out information about the geographical TRHEINEELAEEME - BE L& HE
location of the Group's property, plant and equipment ("Specified ([HEEIERBEE DHIBANEMNELR - 45
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the Specified EFRBDEENIRAE DNEEMNER
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets. BRI ©
Specified non-current assets EEH B EE
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021
HK$°'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Hong Kong a5 6,132 1,722
The PRC AR 658,867 763,119
664,999 764,841
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is ERAEBINS RPN ER NIRE P
presented based on the location of customers. M EZS -

2022 2021
2022 2021 5
HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T FET

Revenue from external customers REMBEF WG

The United States of America EFREFRH 148,815 163,558
The PRC F 236,588 237,904
The United Kingdom HE 26,943 25,033
Hong Kong BE 53,260 49,702
Netherlands Gl 485,787 555,407
Japan =N 24,440 14,247
India ENE 65,358 13,963
Germany == 97,735 50,120
Others Hib 5,015 7,754

1,143,941 1,117,688

AEEEZEEERA : x
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- NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 3. #BEH®
Information about major customers EREEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding periods FEFE BRI A 2R B B P M e 1G AN S B s
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as EEAR 0% ET ¢
follows:

Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total

—BiEE
ETEEm BRI st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT FRT TRR

Year ended 31 December 2022 BZE2022F 12831 HILEFE

Customer A and its BEAREBBATR]
affiliated companies 543,651 1,091 544,742
Customer B and its KEBREBBAR
affiliated companies - 143,813 143,813
Customer C and its BRRECLEBB AT
affiliated companies - 150,542 150,542
543,651 295,446 839,097
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE2021F12A31HILFE
Customer A and its
affiliated companies BEPAREEBAR 634,271 254 634,525
Customer B and its
affiliated companies EPBREBEAR - 144,904 144,904
Customer C and its
affiliated companies KPP CREBBAT — 118,232 118,232
634,271 263,390 897,661
4. REVENUE 4,
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Revenue from contracts with ERNBREERNE1SHEEER
customers within the REEFEHH WS
scope of HKFRS 15
Sales of e-cigarettes products HEEFIEEM 553,226 634,271
Sales of moulds and plastic products HERARERBRE G 587,126 481,366
Sales of medical consumable products — $HE EBHER 3,589 2,051
1,143,941 1,117,688
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

REVENUE (CONTINUED) 4.

The revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of
HKFRS 15 is recognised at a point in time.

& =169

KEEBMBREERE 15 RBENTS
BRM SRR R -

OTHER INCOME 5. HfhltA
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income RITHFEWA 623 489
Finance lease interest income BERERBUWA 305 305
Government grants (Note) BRAT e 8L (ML) 2,509 1,788
Management service income Mﬁﬁﬁ?&”ﬁ)\ 145 150
Rental and utilities recharge income e RKEBREBRA 663 729
Sales of scrap materials BERISHE 1,908 2,481
Sundry income TR A 1,770 1,163
7,923 7,105
Note: Included in the amount is the amortisation of deferred government grant Wz - FeEsBErBREETYE BERK
of approximately HK$1,498,000 (2021: HK$1,388,000) in relation to the 578 BE R R IE B 4 RE #8549 1,498,000 78
acquisition of certain property, plant and equipment. In the opinion of the TC(20214F © 1,388,000%T) - NEEE 1B
management of the Group, the remaining government grants have no [B3R A + 88T BT #8 RO BE 4 8 R E A 1K1
unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the government grants. S BB HAA s AEIR -
OTHER (LOSSES) AND GAINS, NET 6. Ht(BR)RKZBE
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
Exchange (loss) gain, net PEH (B8 e 558 (7,581) 872
Changes in fair value of BARBEFABENCREE
financial assets at FVPL (Note 15) NAEEE(HE15) 905 868
Write-off of property,
plant and equipment VI~ BB KRR E (574) (442)
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment HEYE - HE L& EEIER (419) (236)
(7,669) 1,062

AEEEZEEERA : x
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

7.

=

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

This is stated after charging:

7.

FRIRAIET

BB T 5B IR -

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Finance costs 95 %:N
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings 5T B &K & 6,515 6,864
Interest on payables for construction TR TERIERF B
in progress 557 414
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 136 389
7,208 7,667
Staff costs, including directors’ BIRA
emoluments (BEESEMSE)
Salaries, allowances and e AEREMAEMEF

other benefits in kinds 163,721 159,142
Discretionary bonus PYIETEAL 28,824 30,761
Contributions to defined M) & RE B ET Bl K

contribution plans 13,434 14,055
Share-based payment expenses & 17 B < Ak AN = 436
Total staff costs (charged to “cost of BIRABREGIAIEREE

goods sold”, “administrative and AL [T R E A & M

other operating expenses” and MEFEI(HEB))

“inventories”, as appropriate) 205,979 204,394
Other items Hitg g
Cost of inventories HFEKAR 883,868 863,830
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR 5 BN 1,531 1,086
Depreciation (charged to “cost of goods ~ #T & (5t Al M EE KA

sold” and “administrative and other I 1T R H AL &R

operating expenses’, as appropriate) (fiss@A)) 49,634 51,015
Write-down of inventories (charged to ~ 7F & i #s (Gt A RESERKA])

“cost of goods sold”) 5,081 7,328
Short-term lease payments MHIMRE R 526 114
Share-based payment expenses to FRIEBIINNEERSEE

eligible participants other Z RN E KA

than employees - 67
Research and development expenses A 32,957 30,866

%
*
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INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS 8.

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or

receivable by the directors of the Company are set out

below.

Year ended 31 December 2022

AREEIRET
(a) ES=HM
ARBIEFCDHHERFTFH 2 EE

RS o

BZE2022F 12831 BILEE

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined Share-based
Directors’ benefits Discretionary contribution payment
fees in kinds bonus plans expenses Total
e BER ERMN 3
ESWe HOBEWER BEBEEL  GEfE #Mems #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT TR TR
Executive directors ' HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 6,807 15,436 18 - 22,261
Chan Yin Yan BRAM - 3,380 3,293 18 - 6,691
Poon Po Han Lisa RER - 2,860 1,853 18 - 4,731
Independent non-executive
directors’ BUHHITEE
Chan Bing Kai B R 180 - - - - 180
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - = 180
Ng Chi Wai REE 180 - - - = 180
540 13,047 20,582 54 - 34,223

20225 F 3,
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS 8.

(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2021

(a)

EEHFM

BREFEN»

HE201F 12831 BILEE

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other to defined  Share-based
Directors’ benefits Discretionary  contribution payment
fees in kinds bonus plans expenses Total
o MER TR g
B50e HEtEWRN  BBEL HEME Bem @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TR TR TER
Executive directors
Chan Tsan Lam - 5,102 15,263 18 9 20,392
ChanYin Yan - 2,691 3,256 18 91 6,056
Poon Po Han Lisa - 2,243 1,832 18 91 4,184
Independent non-executive
directors? BUFNTEE
Chan Bing Kai 180 - - - 7 187
Hung Chun Leung 180 = = = 7 187
Ng Chi Wai 180 - - - - 180
540 10,036 20,351 b4 205 31,186

above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer of the

Company and his emoluments disclosed above included

those for services rendered by him as the chief executive

officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no

emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the

directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived

or agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.

s
= \
(-36 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its
employees based on their performance, qualifications and
the Group's operational results. The Group also reimburses
its directors of the Company and senior management of the
Company for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to the Group or
executing their functions in relation to the operations of the
Group.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or payable by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company in respect services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertakings during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors of the Company, their controlled
companies or entities connected with such directors entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Group was a party and in which a director of
the Company, or an entity connected with the director, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Discretionary bonus

Executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payment which are discretionary and determined based on
the Group's performance.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 202212 A31 BILFE

8. EREFERA==

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEEHM )

AEENFMBERSREEENER
B BRERASRENREXEHE
R HRE - ARBETBEARAE
ELRREEERAASERHER
BRBETHEEAREESABOR
REMELANLEZERENER -

EERAKER

HE2022F K20219F12 8318 1k
FE - AEERERAQGEME
EXNHENERARSIEMBR
AIEBKEEMEENRSE S EARK
BH o

LEEAZBAZER - HEX
REMR S

HZE2022F K% 2021%12A318
EFE BEUARRAESHES
HIERAFNEZEEETEHAERD
ERAZEAFURTFEZEME
R EERSEMRS -

EERXRS  ZHEHEHNEPH
EXER

BRERE M BHREMNTIOMBES
Sh BEAEB AT ALARR
EENHEZESTEEMANERNE
PEEIEEEEERETBEHA
SEXEFBEEANEMRS T
REARBTEEREE202F K
2021412 A 31 B It F [Z 8 T o] BF
FE!EJ ﬁ ZE °

B RTEAL

ARFRTESARESRERR
BAREERIAEEOICAA °
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9. hEEEFHFMAL

HE 2022 K% 2021F12 A31 HIEEE -

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is as follows: AEZERSHFMA LM T
Number of individuals
AE

2021
20214
Director =5 3 3
Non-director IFEE 2 2
5 5

ERME (2021 F - 5 )ERRBESFZ
BeHMA T ZHEBOT

Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2021: two)
highest paid individuals who are not a director of the Company are
as follows:

2022 2021
2022 FF 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET

Salaries, allowances and e AEREAEMEF
other benefits in kinds 3,589 2,249
Discretionary bonus BIETELL 727 3,079

Contributions to defined TE R AT B 3K

contribution plans 36 18
Share-based payment expenses % 17 B <& A AR - 82
4,352 5,428

WIARREZBFHFMN FUATHENK
=EMA LT ABAT

The number of the highest paid individuals, who are not the
directors of the Company whose emoluments fell within the
following emoluments band is as follows:

Number of individuals

A8
2021
2021 4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZT % 1,000,000 77T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & JTE 1,500,000 87T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& T2 2,000,000 87T 1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T E 2,500,000 87T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T = 3,000,000 /87 1 1
2 2

& *‘
(-38 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED) 9. AEEEFMAL®
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no HZE2022F K% 2021F12A31HILEFE -
emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of these AEBBMERNTNZERSHTMIEEEA
highest paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or TR EREE - (EARSI S IMAK
upon joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. MAREE R EE S EBAEE - BHE
There was no arrangement under which any of these highest 2022F K 2021 F 12 A31 BIEFE - #4E
paid non-director individuals waived or agreed to waive any FAZSEESTHEEEATHEXRE
emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. WEEME 8 ZHE -
TAXATION 10. NI\
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current tax BIHAR 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax HBNEN
Current year KEEZ 4,530 6,351
Over provision in prior year BT FERERG (55) (1,214)
4,475 5,137
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EFTSH
Current year KEE 10,044 15,052
(Over) Under-provision in prior year BEFE(BEEE)
BETE (1,500) 1
8,544 15,053
Deferred tax (Note 25) BB IE (Mt 25)
Origination and reversal of TRMEREELAR
temporary differences &g 2,185 (5,145)
(Benefit) Utilisation of tax EERTIAEE 2
losses recognised (%) (4,323) 1,097
(2,138) (4,048)
Total income tax expenses for the year  F N5 F: 5 X 4258 10,881 16,142
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BERSHERABEZHS([RBEX
the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), the Group is not subject to any BE DORAIRBRY  REBRZE A
income tax under these jurisdictions. TR AN PTISER -

20225 F 3,

XEEERRARAT || 1?h =
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

0

0

*

s, |

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the assessable
profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group
(as elected by the management of the Group) is subject to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25% (the "graduated tax
rate”), and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5% (the “standard tax rate”). The Hong Kong Profits Tax of other
Group's entities which established in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands is calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their
respective estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") at a statutory rate of 25%, except
for Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial Company Limited* (BN X
REZABMRAF]), which was approved to be a "New and High
Technology Enterprise” since December 2022 with a valid period
of 3 years. The “New and High Technology Enterprise” is subject
to a preferential rate of 15% during the valid period. The State
Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in March 2021
that enterprises engaging in research and development activities
would be entitled to claim at maximum 200% of their research
and development expenses as “Super Deduction”. The directors
of the Company consider the eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries
and recognise the additional tax deduction for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

*

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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10.
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HE2022%F %2021 F12 A3 BILFE -
REBPEB MK B AR (RASE
BEEEREE D) NERP R FIBIRFS M
WHMF - DE2 BB BILERBOEF B
L% MM RERE])r M2BEEHS
TOUA BRI FERBUE K12 16.5% HBL([1Z
EREK]) - AEEBHMREERFASHE
AR BB BB TSR IR E = 2022 F
&wminﬂmaﬁirﬁﬂéﬁﬁm
BRUEAEY16.5% HIZER Rt E

REBERFP BRI ERER25%ME
EMEHMFRPEMSHRIEERS

) EEMNTAREZEGRAEIH 2022
F12 AbERI BT BB 15%
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10. TAXATION (CoNTINUED)

Reconciliation of income tax expense:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

RE®
PSRBT ¥ ik -

2022 2021
2022 FF 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHT
Profit before tax B B & A 116,826 112,406
Income tax at applicable tax rate REABEFERNER 17,103 23,319
Effect on graduated tax rate RENENTE (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses GIEit 316 1,851
Additional deduction allowance P SRR B RR IR BR
for research and development costs (4,723) (7,536)
Tax exempt revenue BB (230) (173)
Tax concession TR (30) (30)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERHIBEHEZREXE 423 317
Utilisation of tax losses previously B R E R IEREE
not recognised (222) (227)
Others Ha (36) (1)
Over provision in prior year BEFEERERE (1,555) (1,213)
Income tax expenses for the year FRMEHRAX 10,881 16,142
The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates EAMEEASENERBLEEMTEEER

prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities operate.

For identification purpose only

TRV IR FIITRH R -

AEEEZEEERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

11. DIVIDENDS 11.
2022 2021
2022 2021 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT AT
Final dividend in respect of 2021 of 2021 FARHKR EGR LB
HK2.0 cents per ordinary share 2.0 (20204 : 1.5%M)
(2020: HK1.5 cents) 12,400 9,300
Not recognised final dividend - Final RERWKRIRE —RNEE
dividend declared after the balance BEXRBBETIRAAREKRE
sheet date of HK2.0 cents per ordinary =A% @AR 2.0 7811
share (2021: HK2.0 cents) (Note) (2021 4F < 2.08M) (K15F) 12,400 12,400
Note: At a meeting held on 29 March 2023, the directors of the Company Hiat - 12023 FE3 A9 BT EeEHE - AN

recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents (2027:
HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share totalling HK$12,400,000 (2027:
HK$12,400,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The proposed
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 will be accounted for as E 1 12,400,000%5T) °
an appropriation of reserves in the year ending 31 December 2023 if it
is approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed
final dividend has not been recognised as dividend payables in the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2022.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on profit
attributable to the equity holders of the Company and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

REEEZ
FENRARE K

12. H5EEEF

BRI A EGETE

2022
2022

HK$'000
TR

Earnings for the purpose of calculating

basic and diluted earnings per share:

Profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Bat EZRELN KGR T
o)X/
AAFIESEFE ARG

F A Al 105,945

EHE = 202291283181
LB 2.0 (2021
4 2.081M) - #85H12,400,0008 72021
i 74 FE i AR SR 3B 67
Ae LEME HE2022F1283181F
FENEZREBREE2023F12 A31
AIEFEUSREFENFT IR - ZEXR
HiRR B AR 2022F 12 A31 BMEZRA
B R KERBEMRS

BREREFTHENARR RS FE ARGREF R
HE202FR 20021 F 1283 BIEEEDBITY

2021
2021 5
HK$'000
FHET

96,264

& *I‘
(-[.2 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE (conTINUED)
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Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 202212 A31 BILFE

12. BB @)

‘000 ‘000
T B& Fhx
Number of shares: REE -
Weighted average number of ordinary  FLETE &R ERZ T
shares for the purpose of calculating TR hnE T B
basic earnings per share 620,000 620,000
Effect of dilutive potential B Rk E
ordinary shares:
— Share options of the Company — AN F A 3,459 5,405
Weighted average number of ordinary  FtatE &S Z R
shares for the purpose of calculating AR N 9 8L
diluted earnings per share 623,459 625,405
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRAERZFGEM) 17.09 15.53
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) SRR EEZF (GB1L) 16.99 15.39

Note:

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the computation of
diluted earnings per share assumed the exercise of the first and second
tranche of share options (Note 28) granted by the Company because the
exercise price of these share options was lower than the average market
price of the Company’s shares.

Mt : B E2022F %2021 12 A31BILFE
ARARRBEEMNE LR E B
(FT3E 28) MITTEBER AR R RMHHFSY
ME WEAFESRESRFNE®RZ
LT -

AEEEZEEERA : x -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

13. SUBSIDIARIES 13.

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

Date of
incorporation/

Place of
Particulars of
paid up capital
HRER

#E

incorporation/
establishment

Ry B

establishment

2

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Directly held by the Company
FLAEERE

Tian Chang Investments Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 United States
Dollar ("US$')1

Tian Chang Investments Limited HBEUMEE  2017FLA20A 1%

Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 US$1

Sun Leader Holdings Limited RBRZEE 2017548208 1%

Indirectly held by the Company

AL AfERE

Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong 16 May 2006 HK$10,000

ARERARAT S 006F5 168 10,00077C

Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong 13 June 2006 HK$10,000

AREFARAT &S 2006F6A13H 10,000 57T

AREZRINERA The PRCY 26 September 2006 HK$100,000,000

Tian Chang Industr\al

(Shenzhen) Limited*
AREZ (RN BRAR MmE 0 2006F9A26H 100,000,000

B LR

R ERAMBRRFTNOT

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
AR ABAREGER

2022 2021
202F 2001%

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities/

place of operation

Investment holding/
Hong Kong
RERR/EE
Investment holding/
Hong Kong
RE®R/BE

Investment holding/

Hong Kong

RERR/B%

Sales of e-cigarettes
products, medical
consumable products
and providing integrated
plastic solutions/

Hong Kong

HEBTRER
ERERD R RE-BL
AERARR/BA

Manufacturing and sales of
e-cigarettes products and
providing integrated
plastics solutions/

The PRC

BERHETTREELR
RE—BOTERR
AR/ HE

& *I‘
(-[.4 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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13. SUBSIDIARIES (cONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

13.

Particulars of
paid up capital
HRER

#5

PR (=)

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company

ADREEMEMERES  Principal activities/
2022 2021 EEEEET

Place of Date of
incorporation/ incorporation/
establishment establishment

Name of subsidiary Rl Ay SR/
HWEARERE Bt KA

Indirectly held by the Company

(Continued)
AL AEEREE)
BMTAREEERLA The PRCU! 22 March 2011
Huizhou Tian Chang

Industrial Company Limited*
ENTARESXARAT ] 1N%E3822A
Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited Hong Kong 27 September 2000
MHERAEEERAR S 200059A278
HHEREARIERAR The PRCIH 17 June 2011
Sun Leader Mould Industrial

(Shenzhen) Limited*
REEA ORI BRAR il 11%E6R17A
MHEREAERZEMERAA The PRCI 27 June 2011
Sun Leader Mould Industrial (Huizhou)

Limited*
HHERAEE (EMERAR R i 1156R278
Tian Hong New Materials Technology Hong Kong 10 October 2019

Limited
REFHRR AR AR S 019108108
REFHHRHREMNBRAR The PRCY 4 December 2019
Tian Hao New Materials Technology

Limited*

REFIRRE (EM) ERAA MREO 201912 A4

Renminbi (‘RMB’)

50,000,000

AKE50,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,000
1,000,007 7T

HK$56,000,000

56,000,000 7T

HK$80,000,000

80,000,000/ 7T

HK$10,000

10,0007

HK$5,000,000

5,000,000 7T

2022% 015 EESES YRS

100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales
of e-cigarettes products,
medical consumable
products and providing
integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC
HERHETTEER
EREAD LB
AERARE/ P E
100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
solutions/Hong Kong
RE-BITERAAR/
&R
100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
solutions/
The PRC
RE-BIIERAAR/
i
100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic
solutions/
The PRC
RE-BUIBRAFE/
el
100% 100%  Sales of medical consumable
products and polyester fibre
("PET") products/
Hong Kong
%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁmw R
(TPET)ER /B
100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
PET products/
The PRC
HERHEPETER,/HE

For identification purpose only.
W Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

i Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC.

() Limited liability company registered in the PRC.
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cONTINUED)

148

(a)

(b)

Certain right-of-use assets, buildings and machineries and equipment
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately HK$431,125,000
(2021: HK$340,949,000) were pledged as collateral to the Group's
interest-bearing borrowings with aggregate net carrying amount of
approximately HK$109,700,000 (2021: HK$125,980,000) as set out in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group reported
low gross profit (2021 gross loss) due to the keen competition of
disposable face masks market, the management of the Group identified
the existence of impairment indication and conducted impairment
assessment on certain machineries and equipment. The recoverable
amount of these machineries and equipment, within the medical
consumable products segment, are estimated individually.

The recoverable amounts of the machineries and equipment have been
determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal using cost
approach and/or sales comparison approach, as appropriate. Fair value
which is determined by using cost approach requires an estimation of
new replacement cost of the assets from which deductions are then
made to allow for physical deterioration and all forms of obsolescence
and optimisation. The fair value using sales comparison approach
is based on available data from observable market prices of similar
assets less incremental costs of disposal. The fair value measurement
is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy. Based on the valuation
prepared by an independent professional valuer, Roma Appraisals
Limited, the recoverable amount of the relevant assets were higher than
its carrying amount and thus no further impairment loss was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: recoverable amount of
the relevant assets were lower than its carrying amount and impairment
loss of approximately HK$7,889,000 had been recognised in profit or
loss).

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

15. BAREHARZHEMEE

2022 2021
2022 20215
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET

Unlisted investments - FELMEE-FEERERREL

key management insurance contracts

31,633 30,454

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the respective surrender cash value of
each insurance contract at the end of the reporting period, which is
primarily based on the performance of the underlying investment
portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum returns, ranging
from 2% to 3.9% per annum (2021: ranging from 2% to 3.9% per
annum) and are denominated in US$.

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is
analysed as follows:

FTEEEERREONANENIZERE
BHARERBRAEVONEARREASEETR
UETHE DPEIEBENEEREES
MERUERRBZERRE  SENT
2% B 3.9% 2 E(2021 F - HFENF2%2
3.9% 2 [) -

TREEERRAONESHOMIT

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period R ¥R BB Y] 30,454 29,586
Changes in fair value RNAEEE) 905 868
Exchange realignments TE X AR 274 =
At the end of the reporting period RERE ER 31,633 30,454

The key management insurance contracts are pledged
as collateral for the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
amounting to approximately, in aggregate, HK$9,332,000 (2027
HK$20,537,000) as set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MER & R RM 220 £
TEBRERRAENOEBIEERES
KEEA H 49,332,000 02027
F 1 20,537,000 7T ) W 5T BB H
IR o

AEEEZEEERA : x

zozzﬁfﬁiﬁ \ : :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&m 5 il 15 $R 2} Bl 5E

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

16. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

Below is a maturity analysis of lease payment receivables and the
reconciliation of undiscounted lease payment receivables to the
net investments:

16. ERBEHERERE
AT REKEE N Z BB DT IA KRR
R AR B TR B R 2 SRR ¢
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HENR HENRBRE

2021 2022 2021
2021 % 2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

Finance lease e R E S 708
receivables comprise: B
Within one year —FA 1,820 2,730 1,617 2,425
In the second year B_F - 1,820 - 1,617
Gross investment HERERT
in the lease 1,820 4,550 1,617 4,042
Less: unearned B AR BB TS U
finance income (203) (508) N/A N/A
TEA E A
Present value of minimum JEEEE
lease payment receivables [ FIR{E 1,617 4,042 1,617 4,042
Analysed as: DA
Current B 1,617 2,425 1,617 2,425
Non-current JERH = 1,617 = 1,617
1,617 4,042 1,617 4,042

Interest rates implicit in the above finance lease is 4.03% per
annum (2021: 4.03%). Finance lease receivables are denominated
in USS.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered into
a lease agreement with a third party whereas the Group leased
out its machineries with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$7,344,000 for an initial term of three years. The sum of lease
payments is fixed and approximates to the carrying values of
the leased assets. During the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021, the Group did not enter into any new finance lease
agreement.

& *I‘
('50 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (cONTINUED)

17.

Finance lease receivables are secured over the machineries
leased. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral
in the absence of default by the lessee. At the end of the lease
term of these finance leases, the lessee has the option to buy the
machineries at nominal consideration. Termination options are
included in these machineries leases. These terms are used to
maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts.
The termination options held are exercisable by the Group and the
leasee.

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk for finance
lease receivables is included in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVENTORIES

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

16.

17.

BlrmEHERE =)

FEUR & TR E TR A E /O # e /R o
REBNSEARATEELNNBRLTE
EREETERR RZENEHENHE

HERE - ABEATEEARBANRER
M RERSHETESRILER

& - BEIGEREAREARE IR EE
AR ERIEREE o PIRFRIDBIERE
A AN B R AR AFTHE ©

B8

BRAARKE T REKRERER
BB BB R B AR & IR IR M TE 32

R
S

R

2022 2021
2022 5 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FET

Raw materials IURE 36,994 72,050
Work-in-progress paa 24,095 28,625
Finished goods X G 67,453 71,208
128,542 171,883

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was a provision
for inventories in respect of write-down to net realisable value
of certain raw materials, work-in-progress inventories and
finished goods (2021: raw materials, work-in-progress inventories
and finished goods) due to obsolescence and/or diminishing
marketability as a result of changes in market condition. Therefore,
a provision of approximately HK$5,081,000 (2027: HK$7,328,000)
has been recognised in profit and loss.

HE202F12A3MBIEFEE - ARTR
B EYMSLARERER  ERE TR
ME - ERRTEERK®2021F - B
B ERBEERK ) NIEETE#IRFE
EMEEIEL B - At - #45%5,081,000
W IT(20214F ¢ 7,328,000 ) D EB R
FHER ©

20225 F 3,
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. B R HEMEKHRIR
2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FE&xT T

Trade receivables B S EWRRE

From third parties EWE=7 18(a) 216,137 218,452

Loss allowance for ECL TEEE EBERE 32 (5,626) (6,266)

18(b) 210,511 212,186

Other receivables Hib WA

Deposits e 274 212

Prepayment for suppliers HER AN FRIE 3,017 3,350

Prepayment for insurance REQTENS TR 2,948 2,993

Prepayment for utilities IKEBRFIE 3,522 4,546

Other receivables H th & W IR 2,188 1,630

Value-added tax recoverable AR BIHEE R TR 11,252 26,081

Prepaid expenses TEI R 3,656 1,348

26,857 40,160
237,368 252,346

18(a) Trade receivables from third parties 18a) REF=FWNE ZEKE
The Group grants credit period up to 90 days to its AEEFRHAZRZERMETRPED
customers upon the issuance of invoices. && 90 H E’MZ??,HJ?

18(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss 18(b) RIMEHR  HEEBHEAHI>HE
allowance, by invoice date at the end of the reporting period SEWFIBE (MR EEEE) WERR
is as follows: DT

2022 2021

2022 £ 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT T

Within 30 days 30 AR 119,001 147,904
31 to 60 days 31260H 53,494 40,253
61 to 90 days 615£90H 28,377 16,368
Over 90 days 90 HEA E 9,639 7,661

210,511 212,186

& *I‘
(-52 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

—/ Annual Report 2022
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) BHEREMBERRER @
18(b) (Continued) 18(b) (&)
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net of loss R¥EHR - B ERKFIA(S Kk
allowance, by due date at the end of the reporting period is EBEBE)ZINEBE 2RETHM
as follows: D
2022 2021
2022 5 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Not yet due i R EI HA 182,219 145,829
Past due: BEIE -
Within 30 days 30BN 22,637 63,143
31 to 60 days 312 60H 2,822 945
61 1o 90 days 61290 H 2,789 1,871
Over 90 days 90 HEA E 44 398
28,292 66,357
210,511 212,186
At 31 December 2021, amount of approximately M2021F12A31H + #)4,653,000

HK$4,653,000 included in the trade receivables were in BITHE ZEWFIBERREZHES
connection with factoring arrangements. 8 -

Information about the Group’'s exposure to credit risk and
loss allowance for trade and other receivables is included in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

ERASBHEEEERRANE
7 N B WK TR B 1R B Y B Ry
R B M IS RRMIFE32 ©

19. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES/CASH AND CASH 19. FRFBPITRE HenHAeE

EQUIVALENTS E
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FET
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS 135,520 122,447
Less: Restricted bank balances L R HERTT R (7,152) (7,780)
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEEY 128,368 114,667

FEEBZRARAT || \

zozzﬁfﬁiﬁ \\ : :
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i
Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

19. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES/CASH AND CASH

20.

(=

4

*

s, |

EQUIVALENTS (cONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, bank balances placed in savings account
amounted to approximately RMB6,365,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,152,000) (2021: RMBé,365,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,780,000)) were restricted, which is equivalent
to the amount owed to the contractor as there was a legal dispute
between a contractor and its sub-contractor for the construction
of factories completed in previous years. As a result of this legal
dispute, the People's Government of Huizhou City issued an
injunction order to the Group to withhold the amount owed to the
contractor until the dispute has been resolved. The legal dispute
has been settled subsequent to 31 December 2022. The amount
was released by the order of the People's Government of Huizhou
City and paid to the sub-contractor subsequent to 31 December
2022. The restricted bank balances carry market interest rate at
0.3% (2021: 0.3%) per annum at 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounting to approximately RMB46,933,000
(2021: RMB37,313,000) and were placed with banks in the PRC.
The remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to relevant rules
and regulations imposed by the PRC government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. Emﬂﬁ

TR BHeRkBeSE

202212831 EREEFOW
ZRBIRITEHR AL AR 6,3650007T
(FEE MR 47,152,00087T) (2021 - AR#
6,365,000 7T (1H& K47 7,780,000,87T))
$E*E‘-“J‘50 EREBR IR - TIRREER
EE SR B ARTFE &M T
TE%{%M‘ o A RALS - BN
ARBSIER AN EBRUGBERATT T2
NERABERIREIE - 7202212 A 31
B A RADERR - ZFTBERE
BMHARBS O ERERILTRN 2022 F
12ANBEINTFOERE - R2022F 12
A318  ZBRHRITEBHTHEEFEE
0.3% (2021 € : 0.3%) °

R2022F 12831 AEB N AR
BAENRSRASSIEUNARE
46,933,0007C(2021 %F : A K #37.313,000
) FERRRBERIRTT - #PEELE
BB RBUTE N 2 AR TR

;Eo

20. W55 H M FEMRIF

2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it F#&xT FHIT
Trade payables B EMARE
To third parties ERE=5 20(a) 159,696 200,684
Other payables H fth FE S FRE
Contract liabilities BRAE 20(b) 18,101 9,776
Salaries and bonus payables e & & RIELL 45,998 50,847
Accruals and other creditors JEETE A R HEMEERR 28,588 26,826
92,687 87,449
252,383 288,133

*

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

—/ Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED)

20(a) Trade payables

20(b)

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

20. RARAMEFMRE
20(a) B 5 BB FE

RBEHR REZAHEOINE
NIRRT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 &

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET FET

Within 30 days 30BN 76,394 67,492
31 to 60 days 31£60H 49,374 92,925
61 to 90 days 612 90H 21,617 20,183
Over 90 days 90 B £ 12,311 20,084
159,696 200,684

The normal credit term on trade payables is up to 90 days.

Contract liabilities

The movements (excluding those arising from increases and
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract
liabilities from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as

BHRNFIBENLEREEENTEB
90 H -

20b) EHEE

HZE20202F K2021F12A318 1k
FEFAEBMERELELEIGH
NEFAYNMNEHABEES (T BIE
EF AR ATEERNES)) 0

follows: ™
2022 2021
2022 % 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT

At the beginning of the reporting REREHY

period 9,776 7,602
Receipts in advances TR FRIE 18,101 9,776
Recognised as revenue R AW (9,776) (7,602)
At the end of the reporting period REREER 18,101 9,776

The significant increase in contract liabilities at 31 December
2022 was mainly due to the increase in the overall contract
activities in integrated plastic solutions segment.

The Group applies the practical expedient and does not
disclose information about remaining performance obligations
that have original expected durations of one year or less.

MR2022F12 A31 BAKBEBARIEIMNTY
FEAR BT BEA RS IR
BHEBYIEN

AEERDUERITN SR ABEER
IRIARHRA—FH—FATHORBED
BEBARBNER -

%E%EE%%@QQ:.1;:3 =
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

21. PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

EREEIERER

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FB T T

Current portion mBhER 9,020 20,168
Non-current portion JEmBNE 6,238 7,309
15,258 27,477

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of the
production plants located in the PRC which the amounts due are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable from one to five years
since its inception. The carrying amount is determined based on
the present value of the total payable consideration discounted
using the effective interest rate of 4.75% (2021: 4.75%) per annum.
At 31 December 2022, the amount of approximately HK$557,000
(2021: HK$414,000) represents the imputed interest charged to
profit or loss.

s
= \
(-56 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

22.

AFRER

2022 2021
2022 2021 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured FrEMER - A 128,813 235,281
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FHT
The carrying amounts of the interest- WS A BIZ ESR(E R IER
bearing borrowings that do not contain ~ Z #T BAEFEREE
a repayable on demand clause AR TR EEER
are repayable:
Within one year —F KX 12,011 17,406
In the second year FEF 4,364 12,096
In the third to fifth year F=ERF 2,958 7,182
19,333 36,684
The carrying amounts of the interest- HBBEREREEGRZ
bearing borrowings that contain a FPEEREREEE
repayable on demand clause (shown (RRBEEFITR)
under current liabilities) but repayable:  7B1%Z T3 REEE
Within one year —FR 96,166 173,794
In the second year BF_F 7,622 9,690
In the third to fifth year F=ERF 5,692 15,113
109,480 198,597
128,813 235,281
Less: Amounts due within one year B RRBIAEYIRZ
shown under current liabilities —FANIEHES R (121,491) (216,003)
Amounts shown under RIEREBBEIIRZ ©EE
non-current liabilities 7,322 19,278

The interest-bearing borrowings from banks and a financial

institution are wholly repayable within seven years since its

inception. At 31 December 2022, the interest-bearing borrowings
carried weighted average effective interest rate of approximately

4.19% (2021: 2.73%) per annum.

RERTREHMBENGTEERERTE
AR EFAZEEE - R 2022F 12
A 318 G EERENEFERFRE
HI4619% (2021 : 2.73%)5T 8 °

AEEEZEEERA : x
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22,

23.

(=

8

*
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, the interest-bearing borrowings are
secured by:

(i) certain buildings, machineries and equipment, and right-of-
use assets in respect of the prepaid land lease payments
with aggregate net carrying amount of approximately
HK$431,125,000 (2021: HK$340,949,000) as set out in Note
14 to the consolidated financial statements;

(i)  key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$31,633,000 (2027 HK$30,454,000) as set
out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iii) corporate guarantees provided by the Company (2021
corporate guarantees provided by the Company).

nil trade receivables are in connection with factoring
arrangement (2021: HK$4,653,000).

DEFERRED INCOME

At 31 December 2022, the Group recognised deferred income on
government grants amounting to approximately HK$11,476,000
(2021: HK$13,837,000) which are used for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. These grants are to be realised to income in
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets. Included
in the deferred income on government grants, approximately
HK$10,021,000 (2027: HK$12,276,000) represented the income
that is not expected to be realised to profit or loss within 12
months subsequent to 31 December 2022 and therefore is
presented under non-current liabilities.

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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23.

AFRER@

M2022F12A8318
FIGHIR

SHEMERTIBEAT

,mAﬁM‘%sﬁlﬁi@W sF 14 FTE BREEF
B4 4943112500058 70(2021 % -
340 9490008 ) E TEF 4%

(i)

W R M AN L E R
HIEFREEE

N 70 B #931,633,000 8 TT(2021 4F -
304540008 T )T EEREAER

(ii)

REEA DL E B TEFREMIFE 15T
)

(i) ARRHREARBIER(2021F - K
INEJRREAT 2 AHEIR) o

(iv) BRELHEHENESERFTIES
T(2021 4 : 4,653,000,%7T) °

i E I B

72022F 12 A31 8 » N B RERBUT

Bh B IR FE 25 40 5 11,476,00058 7T(2021

F 113837000/ C)  BRWEYZE -

BB K& o xS A E ER A

FRAFHRNER A8 - RBUTEAE
EUR RS & - 410,021,000 7T(2021 4F -

12,276,000& ;T ) 6 T8 HA ™ & 72022 4F
12831 HZ#% 1218 B RNEIR AEZOUK
A .ﬁtﬁé#uw@ﬁfﬁ‘:‘:‘zm ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, LEASE LIABILITIES

Prepaid
land lease
payments

Ff Lt
HERE
HK$'000

FEx

EREEE(BEYE -
BB R 5148 (et 14)

Right-of-use assets
(included in the property,
plant and equipment) (Note 74)

Reconciliation of carrying
amount — year ended
31 December 2021

REEHER-BZ
2021%12H31H
IEFE

24. HEA®R

Machinery
and
equipment

B RRE
HK$'000
T

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE

Leased
properties

HEME
HK$'000
FiEx

Total

#Et
HK$'000
T

At 1 January 2021 20211818 44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358
Additions NE = = 486 486
Transfers (=4 - (6,180) - (6,180)
Depreciation e (1,701) (7,273) (1,433) (9,807)
Exchange realignments e H A 1,367 1,595 3 2,965
At 31 December 2021 12021 12H31H 44, 544 45169 1,109 90,822
Reconciliation of carrying REHEZHE-BZE

amount - year ended 2022%F12A31H

31 December 2022 HEE
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1 H 44,544 45,169 1,109 90,822
Additions NE - - 4,320 4,320
Transfers i - (38,161) = (38,161)
Termination Ak - - (153) (153)
Depreciation e (1,063) (4,833) (1,527) (7,423)
Exchange realignments & H AR (3,558) (2,175) (63) (5,796)
At 31 December 2022 2022128318 39,923 = 3,686 43,609

20225 F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

24, LEASE LIABILITIES (coNTINUED)

At 31 December 2021

A2021%F12831H

24. HBEARE®

Prepaid
land lease

Machinery
and
payments
AL
HEFKE
HK$'000
THERT

equipment

B RRE
HK$'000
T

Leased
properties

HEME
HK$'000
FiEx

Total

e n—l-
HK$'000
T

Cost AR 55,826 63,894 3,929 123,649

Accumulated depreciation RitinE (11,282) (18,725) (2,820) (32,827)
bt 544 45,169 1,109 90,822

At 31 December 2022 20225128318

Cost BN 51,321 = 4,739 56,060

Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (11,398) - (1,053) (12,451)
39,923 = 3,686 43,609

The Group leases various lands, machineries and equipment and
properties for its daily operations with initial lease terms ranging
from 2 to 50 years (2021: 2 to 50 years).

AREBREABLBERALT T - EW
BERME - THIEHEENF2ES0F 2
(20214 : 2FE504) »

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHEIT

Lease payments: HEMK
Expenses relating to short-term leases S HIFAE AR 526 114
Total cash outflow for leases HERSmHRRE 12,048 17,437

& *I‘
(-60 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

24, LEASE LIABILITIES (coNTINUED)

25,

24. HBEARE®

Lease payments

HESR
2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FAET
Amounts payable: B RRIE -
Within one year —F AR 2,027 10,638
More than one year but BE—F
within two years BEMELARA 1,587 342
More than two years but FRIBRE -
within five years BEREFUA 99 -
Total lease liabilities HEARERE 3,713 10,980
Less: Amount due for settlement within 33, : PARENEE FHIR
12 months shown under 71218 A AR
current liabilities HAEE AR (2,027) (10,638)
Amount shown under RIERBEE TS A FIE
non-current liabilities 1,686 342

The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in the
leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discount
rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that is readily
observable as the starting point and then applies judgement
and adjusts such observable rate to determine the incremental
borrowing rate.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

25.

HREENRENETSHEE  HAKE
T FRAGE A 2 18 848 5N R H R KA E
FETHR - REEHEMRBRER - A&

IQ%TEEQmZﬂfﬁﬁt%% E
1% %5 5% 0] BT FI R 18 B I N R R
8 FE A o

EERIA

MEFNGREMBREMS - B TELERIE

BERRBECEE - TRAMUMBEER
V1 RYRAE R IR AE SR AT -

2022 2021

2022 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THIT

Deferred tax assets FERIAE E 3,999 918
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIEAE (6,389) (6,602)
(2,390) (5,684)

AREEZFRERAT | w

zozzﬁﬁiﬁ \\ : :
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© NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (cONTINUED)

& *I‘
('62 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

The movement in net deferred tax position during the years ended

31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

25. RIERE =)

HE202F K201 12831 BIEFE &

EHBFREBIT -

Temporary

differences

on income
and expenses
(including
depreciation)
Tax losses recognised
ERERBA
EHBAR 1Y
R =5
HIEEE (BfEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET F#ET
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1 H 5,865 (15,070) (9,205)
(Charged) Credited to REZEA (B ETA
profit or loss (1,097) 5,145 4,048
Exchange realignments PE 3 160 (687) (527)
At 31 December 2021 7202112 4318 4,928 (10,612) (5,684)
Offsetting 35 (4,010) 4,010 -
Net deferred tax assets BIERIEEE(BE)FE
(liabilities) 918 (6,602) (5,684)
At 1 January 2022 2022F 1 A1 H 4,928 (10,612) (5,684)
Credited (Charged) to E/\E/\\Wu‘f}\(ﬁ 2D
profit of loss 4,323 (2,185) 2,138
Exchange realignments EH A (526) 1,682 1,156
At 31 December 2022 2022124318 8,725 (11,115) (2,390)
Offsetting HiH (4,726) 4,726 -
Net deferred tax EEHEESE(AE)FHE
assets (liabilities) 3,999 (6,389) (2,390)

—/ Annual Report 2022



— O

———

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (cONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$39,884,000 (2021: HK$22,132,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately
HK$4,484,000 (2021: HK$1,919,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The tax losses reflected in above deferred
tax assets arising at the end of the reporting period which can be
offset against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries
will expire as follows:

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

25. RIERBA =)

REEBR - NEB A AREHER K G
FIB AR {F AR IEE 8495 39,884,0008 7T
(2021 4F : 22,132,000 7T ) » B KK
HEARE AR M ER ST A
4,484,000 JT(2021 4 : 1,919,000% 7T )

RIEEFIEEE - FURERIBEEEFT
REMNREREHREED T HSHBER
)R TR P SR T b 4 $E B B TR B4R A A
T HHBEIER

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FET

Year of expiry BEF 5
2022 2022 4F - 1,348
2023 20234 15,374 16,723
2024 2024 4F 465 506
2025 2025 4F 109 119
2026 2026 4F 49 53
2027 2027 4F 17,939 =
33,936 18,749
No expiry mEHA A 1,464 1,464
35,400 20,213

At 31 December 2022, the estimated withholding tax effects on
the distribution of PRC subsidiaries’ accumulated profits were
approximately HK$42,847,000 (2021: HK$35,190,000) which would
become payable when they are distributed. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, these accumulated profits are required
for financing the continuing operations of these entities and no
distribution would be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
no provisions for additional deferred taxation have been made.

R2022F 128318 2RPEKBARZR
SR AR TR R 240 5 42,847,000 8
Te(2021 4 - 35,190,000,%7T) + FAE 7 RSN
o RARIEERAE  kE250aMAERZ
LERMNFBBCERBIR - WA RASRTE
DR o AL - WEVEHREINEIERE R

20225 F 3,

|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL

27.

0

4

*
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Bl % ¥ 2% Bl 5

26.

(A2 S

2022 2021
2022 2021 6
No. No.
of shares of shares
gl 4= & E
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000
T % T FHET
Authorised: ZE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &ARE1E 0.1 7T 79 Z %
At the beginning and RERE R R
end of the reporting period 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &AZE1E 0.1 & T 19 & #8%
At the beginning and R E YRR
end of the reporting period 620,000 62,000 620,000 62,000
RESERVES 27. %
27(a) Share premium 27(a) BHRE

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company's shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

27(b) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount due
from the Group granted by the Ultimate Controlling Party
in prior years and the aggregate amount of the nominal
value of the issued/registered capital of the entities now
comprising the Group less consideration paid to acquire the
relevant interests (if any).

27(c) Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain certain
statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up for losses, expand the existing operation and
convert to additional capital.

v

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. RESERVES (conTINUED)

28.

27(d)

27(e)

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign operations
in consolidation.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted to employees and non-employees and is
dealt with the accounting policy as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “"Option
Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2019. The
major terms of the Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a)

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
for eligible participants to work with commitment towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the shares for the
benefit of the shareholders of the Company to retain and
attract persons whose contribution are or may be beneficial
to the growth and development of the Group.

The eligible participants of the Option Scheme include: (a)
any executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Group or any entity in which the Group holding
any equity interest (“Invested Entity"); (b) any non-executive
director (including independent non-executive directors) of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and (c) any non-employees
(including but not limited to supplier, customer, consultant,
adviser, contractor, business partner or service provider of
the Group or any Invested Entity) in the absolute discretion
of the board of directors in the determination of who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

28.

E2 16
27(d) BERE

BEFREEEAHBRERINES
FRESE RV PT B INEZRR ©

27(e) BBIRAESR R
BEEFEEETEERFERD

BRENAAE UREAVHER
RIEE 2 RNV S RTBUOR IR IE -
R Bz #E 5T &

AATDIEE2019F5 828 H@BHR
BEEMIER TR ([BREE ) - B
AEHERT &I £ BIGF e T -

BhEtE S ESBAERSEE
RARBBRRON e MBADEAA
RAEI R REE  ABRERES
HAKBEHERRERE KT
BRHOAL -

(a)

BREAENAEKRLHEEREGR
$El%$ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂk%mE
MER(AREER]) NI ﬁ
EENEE(TmE2BsRE) ¢
$%li&ﬂ%&§a%%&ﬁ#
%ﬁ%%@ﬁ%ﬁ#%ﬁ%%%

O EAEREE (BEETRRASE
liﬁﬂﬁhﬁfﬁmfﬁﬁ ®
F-®%AA BE- Ae8 %%
BH SRS EER)  MEEEA 2
EREECREEHIBEAREE
ELERL °

EITERBEERETE R AEE T
fa] L 0 B AR AE AT 8 B B B i R 1T
EEVFT B AR T Al B 3 R 21T/
RHEE ERAEEBBAR AR
BEITARANH) 30% o
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

()

6

*

s, |

*

(d)

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any twelve-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

There is no minimum period required for the holding of a
share option before it can be exercised.

A share option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined by the directors, the period may commence
on a day after the date upon which the offer for the grant of
share options is made but shall not be later than ten years
from the date of grant of the share option subject to any
provisions for early termination thereof.

Upon acceptance, the eligible participant shall remit
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be made
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
share option.

The exercise price of a share option shall not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations on the date of
the offer of the grant;

(i)  the average closing price of the share of the Company

as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations for

the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant; and

(iii)

the nominal value of the share of the Company.

The Option Scheme will expire on 27 May 2029.

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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(d)
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28.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 1,250,000 share options
were forfeited (2027: 800,000 share options). As at 31 December
2022, the number of shares in respect of which options had been
granted and remained outstanding under the Option Scheme was
35,790,000 (2021: 37,040,000).

On 13 May 2020, options to subscribe 37,840,000 ordinary shares
were granted to several eligible participants including directors,
employees and non-employees under the Option Scheme at an
exercise price HK$0.355 per share. The validity period of the share
options is ten years from the date of grant (i.e. from 13 May 2020
to 12 May 2030), of which 50% of the share option was exercisable
and vested on the date of grant and the remaining 50% of the
share options shall be vested and exercisable from 13 May 2021
to 12 May 2030. Eligible participants are not required to complete
a specified period of service before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those equity instruments.

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

28. REBRH#EETEI ()

E 2022912 8318 1t € & 1,250,000
DEERRAE(2021 F < 800,000 (7 FER#E) B
R W e PR2022F12A31H BB
5 MR 15 B AR M AT B0 M R 1T (5 A9 B AR
W B RS 19 BB /535,790,000 % (2021 4F -
37,040,000 §%) o

7202095 A13 8 RIEERESTEIRS
TEERL2EE(BIEES  BRENFE
8 )% AT 3288 37,840,000 A% L@ M 2 BB AR
W ITEEASRR0.355 8T - BRENE
WHA A BB B B R+ (BN 20205
58138 £2030F 58128 ) E#H50%
MERENEL A FIEREE - m
RN 50% M EARER R 2021 F5 H13AE
2030F5 R 12BHEBRA] T1I(E - 5&
SEERBEERGZEZEREATIAZ
BT SEA R TE B ARTE B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

28. HBER#ERTE »
HE2022F 12831 BLLEE

Number of share options

BRERE

Exercise Outstanding Exercisable
price of Outstanding Forfeited as at as at
Categories of Date of grant of share options  Exercise period as at 1 January during 31 December 31 December
participants share options HK$  (both dates inclusive) 2022 the year 2022 2022
BRE R2022F R2022F R2022F
B TEE TEHH 1A1H 12A31H 12A31H
28585 BRERD BT (BEEEWA) e RATE FRRIK i RATHE AT
Directors 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 14,020,000 - 14,020,000 14,020,000
= 202045 H13H #2020 5 A13RE
2030F5H 1285
METTRE
Employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 19,100,000 (1,250,000) 17,850,000 17,850,000
E& 2020465 A138 #20205F5A138%
20305128
T
Non-employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 3,920,000 - 3,920,000 3,920,000
FEE 20204657138 #2020F5A138F
2030F5 1285
TR
Total 37,040,000 (1,250,000) 35,790,000 35,790,000
st
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) 0.355 0.355 0.355
IEFHTEECET)

168 % Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS =

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

L .
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Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 202212 A31 BILFE

28. RER#ERTE &)
HE2021E12831 BILEE

Number of share options

felhed =)
Exercise Outstanding Exercisable
price of Outstanding Forfeited as at as at
Categories of Date of grant of share options  Exercise period as at 1 January during 31 December 31 December
participants share options HK$  (both dates inclusive) 2021 the year 2021 2021
e #2021 720214 #2021
R TEE TR 1A1AR 12A31H 12A318
2EERR fERERS BT (BEEREWMA) W ARITE FRRH WARITE AT
Directors 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 14,020,000 - 14,020,000 14,020,000
= 202045 H13H #2020 57131
£2030F5H12A8
RETTE
Employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 19,900,000 (800,000) 19,100,000 19,100,000
E& 20204657138 #20206F54138
Z2030%5A812H8
SRR
Non-employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in
two tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 3,920,000 - 3,920,000 3,920,000
HFEE 2020658 13H # 2020658138
Z20304658128
ST
Total 37,840,000 (800,000) 37,040,000 37,040,000
5
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) 0.355 0.355 0.355
InfEFH
IEEE(ET)

o -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED) 28.

The fair value of the share options on the date of grant is
approximately HK$2,550,000.

The fair value of share options on the date of the grant is estimated
by using the Binomial Model with the following parameters:

Grant date 13 May 2020
Exercise price HK$0.355
Risk-free rate 1.02%
Expected volatility* 36.206%
Expected dividend yield* 5.607%

The expected volatility is with reference to historical price volatilities of
the share price of the Company and companies of the similar business
nature, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to
publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on historical
dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions would materially
affect the fair value estimate.

s
= \
(-70 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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RIETFTEHE BERENIAELD A
2,550,000 7T °

BREN R ETDMAZEARLEA -

B2

B 5 20205 A 13H
T{EE 0.355/87C

41 [ B 1 =R 1.02%

TEHRR B8 36.206%

TEHARR Bk R 5.607%
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29. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

29. BEFRRERS

2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Profit before tax BR A5 A& A 116,826 112,406
Depreciation of property, Y - WERRENE
plant and equipment 49,634 51,015
Amortisation of deferred R FEER T 7 B8R
government grant (1,498) (1,388)
Write-down of inventories &M 5,081 7,328
(Reversal of) Provision for loss B Z W IR E B R (B e B
allowance on trade receivables (216) 349
Interest income FLEWA (928) (794)
Changes in fair value of financial BARBEFABENCRIEE
assets at FVPL NIEEE (905) (868)
Finance costs B TE RN 7,208 7,667
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BERREEE
plant and equipment 419 236
Write-off of property, M - B kR M
plant and equipment 574 442
Impairment losses on property, VI BB REREREEE
plant and equipment - 7,889
Exchange differences tEH Z5E (3,888) 856
Share-based payment expenses & 17 B & Ak AN = 503
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Restricted bank balances ZRHIIRTTAS - (7,674)
Inventories FE 23,919 (75,682)
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMEKEIR (11,974) (57,683)
Trade and other payables B 5 REAEMNKE (15,615) 78,120
Cash generated from operations KEMBES 168,637 122,722

AEEEZEEERA : x
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. FBRRAERZS
In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the RE M BREREM SR ENR S,
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 ﬁ BN B 20229 KX 2021912 A 31
December 2022 and 2021, further information of the related party RILFE - BT REHIE
transactions is set out below. SERFINT o
(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EERABEA 2R 5
The Group had entered into lease agreements with 7N [ B A AR IR T B RR A R ET
companies controlled by the Ultimate Controlling Party to HEEWE Eii\uﬁ/\%c EORIZI/N
lease office premises located in Hong Kong. In the opinion i%% ZF%@ EREERE  %E
of the management of the Group they are under normal RS TILEEBE R EK /ff\iﬁﬁ - BB
commercial terms that are fair and reasonable and in the NEEBIFEAREBNRENZ
best interests of the Group.
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 &
Related parties relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
B SRR REME FET T
Companies controlled by the Lease payments 842 594
Ultimate Controlling Party AENR
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 39 16
BAERR 77 B AR A A HEABENFERX
(b) Balances with related parties (b) ERBBEET &R
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 &
Related parties relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
B SRR REME FET T
Companies controlled by the Lease liabilities
Ultimate Controlling Party 2,176 99

AR IR AR R A

HERE

& *I‘
(-72 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conTINUED)

(c)

(d)

31.
(a)

-

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 202212 A31 BILFE

30. FABRRAEARX @

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
transferred the share option reserve of approximately
HK$70,000 (2027: HK$45,000) to accumulated profits
as the forfeiture of share options.

Remuneration for key management personnel (c) XEBFEEEBEAE(BHFES)
(including directors) of the Group: HEE
2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 6
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Salaries, allowances and e MERHEMAEYMFIZ
other benefits in kinds 16,938 13,625
Discretionary bonus @’ﬂ TEAT 21,252 21,324
Contributions to defined R FRET IR
contribution plans 101 90
Share-based payment expenses & 17 B & AKX AN - 298
38,291 35,337
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in EENerE—DHFBERGEEY
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. TGRS o
Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (d LtHREEARBEERS
connected transactions
The related party transaction in respect of Note 30(a) above EXMFE30@MBEEA TR SHEK
constitutes connected transactions as defined in Chapter R BUAEMATETNEER
14A of the Listing Rules. However, the transaction is exempt o AM - ARZERFHER LT
from the disclosure requirement in Chapter 14A of the RAIE 1LAT6MIETHRERRRK
Listing Rules as it is below the de minimis threshold under FEE - WERREST EMRAE
Rule 14A.76(1). T4ABEBIREEFRE °
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 3. FRBaRECHMEH
Major non-cash transactions (a) XEFBEEXRZF
In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the B M B REREMTDBEECE
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the BN REEETIEZIERER
followings major non-cash transactions: K

(i) #EHZE2022F12A31HLILF
B AEEEEREREY
70,0005 70 (20214 : 45,0005%
TIERSWHEREEES
REtm Al o

AEEEZERERED : \
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

31. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS . ERASRECHMEIH @)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) (a) XEH}BEEXRF (@)

=0

4

*

s, |

*

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the
payables for construction in progress of approximately
HK$557,000 (20217: HK$414,000), which were
not settled and were credited to the payables for
construction in progress.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group incurred additional payables of approximately
HK$3,229,000 (2021: HK$17,949,000) to constructors
for the addition of property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has terminated a leased premises with the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities balance of approximately HK$153,000 and
HK$158,000, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, interest-
bearing borrowings of approximately HK$4,653,000
(2021: HK$2,680,000), which were drawn on factored
trade receivables with recourse have been settled
through trade receivables discounted to a bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into lease arrangements in respect of leased
properties with a total capital value at the inception

of leases of approximately HK$4,320,000 (2027:

HK$486,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, right-of-use
assets of HK$38,161,000 (2021: HK$6,180,000) have
been transferred to property, plant and equipment
because the hire purchase for the machinery and
equipment have been fully settled.

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

HZE2022F12A3181tE
B AEEpERIRNENS
FRIAEE A #9557,00087T(2021
F: 414,000/ ) ) ERTF B
MY ZEFEXHAGEER
Rt AERTREMENFKIE -

HE2022F12A8318 15
B AEBBRAEDE  BE

BB EEBINEEE
B ERIEH) 3,229,000 7T (2021
E: 17,949,000;55T) °

HE20229F12A8318 15
B AEBEERLIAEME
FREEELAMESENERR
BREE D BI#) A 153,0008 T &
158,000/ 7T °

HE20229F12A8318 15
B EREBESEWRNIER
BEEEBHEMNGTBEREBR
4) 4,653,000/ 7T (20214 -
2,680,000/8 ) BB BRIRTT
BNIRM B SRR E -

HE20229128318I1EHF
B AEERBEEWEI LA
EH HMERVREARE
{E49 4,320,000 7T (20214 -
486,000/87T) °

HZE 2022912 A3 BIEFE -
R TREE TR KR EE 2
4555 0 38,161,000 7T(2021 4 -

6180000/ T )MEREEER
#HAE - BE MR o
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The movements in the Group’s liabilities from financing

activities are as follows:

. ERASRECHMAEH»)

(b)

MEFTBRELERBENYIR

AEEREEHHEL BN
T

Payables for Interest-
construction bearing Lease
Year ended 31 December 2022 in progress  borrowings liabilities Total
BNER
BZE2022F12A318LEE IENRE FFEMER HESE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET THET FHET
At the beginning of the REREERY]
reporting period 27,477 235,281 10,980 273,738
Financing cash flows BMERERE (13,788) (101,124) (11,522) (126,434)
Interest expenses FBERX = 6,515 136 6,651
Additions NE 3,229 - 4,320 7,549
Termination 1k - - (158) (158)
Transfers ﬁii}%v% - (4,653) - (4,653)
Imputed interest expenses ‘?Fﬂ Nizh-3 557 = = 557
Effect of foreign exchange [ERBEHTE
rate changes (2,217) (7,206) (43) (9,466)
At the end of the REERIR
reporting period 15,258 128,813 3,713 147,784
Payables for Interest-
construction bearing Lease
Year ended 31 December 2021 in progress  borrowings liabilities Total
JER
HE2021F12A31ALEFE ITEHIE FTEMER HEaE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FHBT FBT
At the beginning of the R & B9
reporting period 26,601 229,998 27,425 284,024
Financing cash flows BERERE (18,317) (214) (17,323) (35,854)
Interest expenses FBERAX = 6,864 389 7,253
Additions NE 17,949 = 486 18,435
Transfers B - (2,680) - (2,680)
Imputed interest expenses BRI ERAX AVA = = AVA
Effect of foreign exchange [EXREHHTE
rate changes 830 1,313 8 2,146
At the end of the REREHR
reporting period 27,477 235,281 10,980 273,738
AREBIERARAD
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of rental
deposit, finance lease receivables, financial assets at FVPL,
interest-bearing borrowings, payables for construction in progress,
lease liabilities, restricted bank balances and bank balances
and cash. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise and maintain finance for the Group's operations. The Group
has various other financial instruments such as trade and other
receivables and trade and other payables, which arise directly
from its business activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from its unlisted
investments in key management insurance contracts which are
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair value of the unlisted
investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which are at
the discretion of the issuer of the investments. Such contracts
have minimum guaranteed returns during the holding period.
The management of the Group is of the opinion that the price risk
arising from the contracts is not significant.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
of approximately HK$67,009,000 (2021: HK$153,765,000) with
floating interest rate. The Group currently does not have a policy
to hedge against the interest rate risk as the management of the
Group does not expect any significant interest rate risk at the end
of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has been
1% (2021: 1%) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's pre-tax results would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$670,000 (2021: HK$1,538,000).

32.

MERBRETEERRBE

FEENFECRIAGERASRS &
WRBHENER  RAREFARENS
BMEE  FTEMER  BAEZIRENA -
MERE  XRBIRITERRRITEHR KL
Be REeRMIANTIEANDEER
HBAEEZEMFTELS - AKEHES
BEMESRMTEA WEEKEHEEKLD
B 5 N E M EUCGKIAME 5 K B A T

A -

AEBCRIANTIERRTSRERR
(BREEBRRR - MERERRIMNERR)
EERRE LREIERERE o BREMADR D%
FRBNBRRHEINNT - AEEEEEE
BRERZEAR  BRREEUERE

B

E% R

AEEHEREETEEEABRREDI
EREGIORRBRAREBHABENS
BREE)NERRAR - FLTRENAR
BEeRBERERT ARE /B H MK
B 2T NNBFAHRAREDRR
FoAEEERERAZZIANSIRHE
RERILTEKX -

o

FEEB

AEEABEHNFEZEFHMIZRERE Z MR
£ B8 BAE A 67,009,000 7T (20217
4F:153,765,00087C) B - N&EE BRI
BERRBEMNERRAR  RERASEERE
EBFERRERR T FEEMEARFER
B o

RERE R MR R TE1% (2021
F %) MABEMEERIFET A&
EmFAIEE R, A4 670,000 T
(2021 4F : 1,53800087T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rate had occurred throughout the year
and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for the
closing balance of the interest-bearing borrowings in existence
at the end of the reporting period. The stated changes represent
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the year.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the reporting period.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in HK$, US$ and
RMB.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
the respective group entities and therefore exposed to foreign
currency risk. The carrying amounts of those financial assets and
liabilities are analysed as follows:

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE
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32.

Financial assets

MERBEREAERBE

F) = &L B ()

B ST TSR BRI E R B R A
B R E AR RS MR B
SRR EABMOEETE - b

EHEERBURAEERF AR ALE
BT «

AEEEEERS  SREINTHRE
BRZRR - BARHREHRMALT
R E HRE O o

S ELBR

AEENRZFERABT - KTRARE
5t -

AEENETEREENEBBBENEE
BEREEBUINNEEHE - FHtE
EIMNERRR - ZFERMEENMBENRE
BT

Financial liabilities

SRMEE ol =R
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 5 2021 € 2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET FExT T
HK$ BT 4,097 4,638 4,404 2,160
us$ ETT 262,679 248,142 108,631 282,473
RMB AR 1,542 133 = =

20225 F 3,

%E%E%%ﬁ@ﬂﬁ:.1;;\ =
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32.

(o

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group's pre-tax results if exchange rates of HK$, US$ and RMB
had changed against the functional currencies of the respective
group entities by 10% (2021. 5%) and all other variables were held
constant at the end of the reporting period.

32. MERBREEEEREEK &)

SMEE LB ()

TREIEREMRET - TTRARE
REEEEBNIIEEEEE 10% (2027
F:5%)BEMBHR @ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁé@’%ﬁ
AR BRI B B R BE A

HK$ BT
us$ EI
RMB ARB

2022 2021
2022 202145
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT T
(31) 124
15,405 (1,717)
154 7

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to the Group's exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.

The stated changes represent management's assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not
reflect the exposure during the reporting period.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the
consolidated financial statement, which is net of loss allowances,
represents the Group's exposure to credit risk without taking
into account the value of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.

%

v
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to finance lease receivables, trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits, restricted bank balances and bank balances. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that
settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by bills issued
by reputable financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets
and other items under ECL model. Information about the Group's
credit risk management and the related impairment assessment,
if applicable, are summarised as below:

Trade receivables and finance lease receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
determines credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group only accepts bills issued or guaranteed
by reputable Hong Kong or PRC banks if trade receivables are
settled by bills and therefore the management of the Group
considers the credit risk arising from the endorsed or discounted
bills is insignificant. In this regard, the management of the Group
considers that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a concentration of credit
risk as approximately 34.8% (2027: 33.7%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest trade debtor, and
approximately 82.3% (2027: 82.3%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's five largest trade debtors.

Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with significant
balances are assessed for ECL individually. Except for trade
debtors that are subject to individual evaluation, which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on certain common credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group's ageing of outstanding
balances.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and finance lease receivables (Continued)

The counterparty under the finance lease receivables arrangement
is assessed for ECL individually.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Bank balances and restricted bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances and restricted bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given default
of the respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12-month
ECL on bank balances is considered to be insignificant and
therefore no loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management of the Group
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management of the Group believes that there
is no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based on
12-month ECL. For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits are
insignificant and thus no loss allowance is recognised.

T|an Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

following categories:

Internal

credit rating

AR BRI

Low risk

(KR

Watch list

BRAE

Doubtful

it
1

Loss

B

Write-off

67|

Description

f

The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due amounts

RHHEFENRRE - L EEMBHZR

Debtor frequently repays after due dates

but usually settle in full
EBALEEIHREREE
BEREEINHMARTILES

There have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

FERRE B EBAIRINBERELA
BRSPS HAUREEE LA

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

REBRTEECHAEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
BERBBETEBARARENMBREE
AEELWEEETIETEERATR
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32. MERBREEEEREEK &)

fEEER )

AEENABEER
15l -

Trade receivables

B S WIS

Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired
EEAFEREREEEE -

FEERE

Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired
BEAFEREREEEE -

FEERE

Lifetime ECL -

not credit-impaired

BEAFEREREEEE -
FEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
BEAFERERESEE -
EERE

Amount is written off

MEERESE

A/\ l?l

REFHEBEAT

Other financial
EE

HthemEE
12-month ECL

12 18 A 78 5
EEBIE
12-month ECL

1218 A& 5
EEEE
Lifetime ECL -
not credit-
impaired

BEFESRESR
FEEE-
FEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
HEEFERESR
=EEE-
EERIE
Amount is
written off

MEEREE

AEEEZEEERA : x
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

()

POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposure of the Group's

financial assets and finance lease receivables, which are subject

to ECL assessment:

32. MERBREREERBR &)

FERR @

TREFMAEBATRAEEBBFGEN

TREENEBUBERERENEER

2022 2021
Financial assets External Internal 12-month or (CICEENET QUM Gross carrying
at amortised cost credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
REBHERAGHE 12 {8 A R EZAE 2022 20214
HEMEE MBS ERTAR WEEEFNE FEHEHGEESS REAE BREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Trade receivables 18 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired 130,417 101,234
& 5 EIGRIE TEA iWEN BEGFEREHEE
BiE—-JFEERE
Watch list Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired 19,603 61,454
BREE BEFEREHEE
BB - EERE
Watch list Lifetime ECL
(Note 2) (provision matrix) 61,695 51,035
BREE BEGFEREHEE
(Hizt2) &8 (B ERE )
Loss Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired 4,422 4,729
BB BEGFEREHEE
BiE-EERE
216,137 218,452
Other receivables 18 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL
and deposits 5,872 5,269
HiERFIERIZS TEA (HisE1) 12EAEREEER
Restricted bank balances 19 A+ N/A 12-month ECL 7,152 7,780
ZREIRITAE A A+ TEA 2@ AEREEER
Bank balances 19 From BBB+ to A+ N/A 12-month ECL 128,368 114,502
IRITHRR i BBB+ & A+ TEA 12 ATEEEEEE
Other item
HfE R
Finance lease receivables 16 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL
(individual assessment) 1,617 4,042
FEW R & AR ERIE iE A (Hizt2) BEFEREHEE

E518 (85l 5F 1)

v
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (conTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Notes:

1 For other receivables and deposits, the credit risk on the balances is low
as the counter parties have good repayment history. The amount of loss
allowance assessed by 12-month ECL is insignificant.

2 For trade receivables and finance lease receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for credit-impaired trade debtors and
trade debtors with significant balances are assessed for ECL individually,
the Group assesses the loss allowance on the remaining debtors by
using a provision matrix, grouped by past due analysis.

Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing

For the remaining debtors, the Group assess the impairment
for large number of small customers with certain common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to repay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix based primarily
on the debtors’ ageing profiles. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 & ZE 202212 A31 BILFE

32. MERBREEEEREEK &)

fEEER )
st -

1. BREMBRREBERZREMNE  SHRNEER
EBREE DEAXZHFHERELR
oo FHIt - AR A 12EAEREEBEN
EEBREEBELIERX -

2. HRESEEFEREUBEBEEEREMD
FOARBECRAEBUBRELEANE
SR T A B2 EMEEERNE
BEE - BREERERKEREARKHE
EHRNEYRSERETRAGEEEEN
o AEEBEBRABEBEER(ZEHD
1 8l > 51 FF A E 82 T FEURRR SR A0 B 1R R
1 e

TR — NIRRT

B TEKERNS  AEEFHAER
BNEEIRBA NGB ERTA R B50E
BENERKREMETEARRRSE - 546
BREEBEEERFG  EPEEUEBFA
RBRER BIRIE - TREIBEMR202F
1283 AREREEEREEFESE
HEEBB(WEEERE)ATENE S

RUFENEERREN - (ERAKEE
ERBREEN D AEEHETFE
RREBEEFR -

which are assessed based on provision matrix at 31 December
2022 within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). As part of the
Group's credit risk management, the Group applies internal credit
rating for its customers.

FEEBZRARAT || _ﬁ\ ;

zozzﬁiﬁ#ﬁ \ :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 32. MERBREEAERBE
POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued) ZER k%)
Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing (Continued) FEB B[ — JEU B 5 BRI ()
Gross carrying amount FREAE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
Average Trade Average Trade
A =IGH  receivables (S H =1 receivables
25 =
T EIE=E FEW IR ] Ei RS e IR
% HK$ % HK$
BT BT
Not past due i) A £ BB 0.60% 52,106 0.89% 44,995
1 - 30 days past due 2EHE1E30H 5.30% 5,166 6.45% 3,547
31 - 60 days past due BRHI31E60H 11.00% 1,142 12.21% 978
61 -90 days past due BRH61E90H 14.51% 3,259 33.15% 1,088
Over 90 days past due BEIE0 AU 100.00% 22 100.00% 427
61,695 51,035

()

4

*

s, |

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by the management of the Group to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reversed
approximately HK$216,000 (20217: impairment losses of
HK$349,000) loss allowance for trade receivables based on the
provision matrix.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, for debtors that are individually
assessed, lifetime ECL rates are assessed as insignificant based
on historical credit loss experience and forward-looking elements
and the Group determines that no loss allowance is necessary in
respect of these balances for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021. Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with
significant balances with gross carrying amounts of approximately
HK$4,422,000 (2021 HK$4,729,000) and approximately
HK$150,020,000 (2027: HK$162,688,000), respectively at 31
December 2022 were assessed individually.

*
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EFTEIR R TR BUR A A F AR E
EERENTETH  URERNLBE
ZRAEE N A SRR EERHEL T
E BRIFHEASEEEETHRT
DA LR B30 B T2 PR WK AR SRABRA R B Y

HEWRENANBILEEE AEH
R B B [ 0 B 5 R FUE M S 1R
%) B216,0008 02021 F - i (B EE
349.00087T) °

M2022% 20215128318 - 2@ 3
FENEBAME  BEATEEBEL
BRAEHER  BEGERNEREER
BEAETFHATEXN  MASERETEE
F2022F M2021F12 A3 BILFEES
M EERETIRBEEE - 12022512
H 31 B mﬁ@%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ%m&ﬁﬁk

N E S ERRFREEREDS AL
4,422,000/571:(2027 F 4,729,000%57%)&
#9150,020,0007%8 JT(20214F : 162,688,000
JEIT ) EEREBIFTS ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 32. MERBEBRHEREE @

POLICIES (coNTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)
Provision matrix — Debtors’ ageing (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified

fEEER )
S AEIE — T AR ()

T%E&ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%{tﬁiﬂﬁw%ﬂ%F’Eﬂﬁlmlﬁ
HNEREFEPRBEERENE

approach.

Lifetime ECL
(non credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired)
EEFED EEFES
HHEERE #AHEEER
(U EEERIE) (FERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET
At 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 1,150 4,743 5,893
Changes due to financial 7202141 A1 Bi#ER

instruments recognised TR T AS|BEE) :

at 1 January 2021:

— Impairment losses reversed — B EEREREE (163) = (163)
New financial assets originated ~ FTRIE B ENTAE 512 - 512
Exchange realignments M 5 38 (14) 24
At 31 December 2021 R2021F12H31H 1,637 4,729 6,266
Changes due to financial R 202291 A1 BRER

instruments recognised TR T ES|BEE) :

at 1 January 2022:

— Impairment losses reversed — B EEREEE (247) - (247)
New financial assets originated ~ FTRIE B ENTAE 31 - 31
Exchange realignments M 5, B (117) (307) (424)
At 31 December 2022 20225128318 1,204 4,422 5,626

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over 2 years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group has taken legal action
against the debtors to recover the amount due.

WA ERKRBESAMBREENFRE -
BmENSBEMEBACBRBEERX

EEABERF - HEFERUGACEH
MEUNREERE))  AEEFHMEE

SRR - AEEE RZEHARIUA
RITB BRI B HAFR -

AEEEZEEERA : x

zozzﬁfﬁiﬁ \ : :



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 32.

6

POLICIES (conTINUED)
Liquidity risk

Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of payable for
construction in progress, interest-bearing borrowings and lease.

The Group has no specific policy for managing its liquidity. The

undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group's financial

liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on contractual

undiscounted payments, is summarised below:

At 31 December 2022

M2022512H318

Total
carrying
amounts

SREEAE
HK$'000
TER

Total
contractual
undiscounted
cash flow
&4
RERBE
REHHE
HK$'000
TET

MERBREEAERBE

TR B B

AEENBERDBRBHAENEZITREN
B REERNEEAEARREREN
TR 2 Ty o ANER B30 R Bl
REBERPE - RREHR - AEEE
REKRBERNAE E’J‘i\rﬂﬁtﬂiﬂﬁiﬁm’]
AR T

Less than

1 year or
on demand
15

RN
RERER
HK$'000
TExT

1-2 years 2-5 years

EE:
HK$'000
FET

1826
HK$'000
FET

Trade and other payables &5 Rk E b fE 78 252,383 252,383 252,383 = =
Lease liabilities HERE 3,713 3,827 2,115 1,712 =
Interest-bearing HEBRAE)
borrowings (Note) 128,813 129,834 122,149 4,662 3,023
Payables for construction [EfAERE T2 FNTE
in progress 15,258 15,837 9,599 3,841 2,397
400,167 401,881 386,246 10,215 5,420
At 31 December 2021 20215128318
Trade and other payables ‘& 5 & H {th B 7008 288,133 288,133 288,133 = =
Lease liabilities HEBE 10,980 11,115 10,768 347 =
Interest-bearing STRERAE)
borrowings (Note) 235,281 236,273 216,561 12,4613 7,299
Payables for construction [EfIER TI2FIA
in progress 27,477 27,511 20,202 7,309 -
61,871 563,032 535,664 20,069 7,299

%
*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 32. MERREEAREBE =)

POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TRE) MR B ()

Note: The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that include a Kt - ROTERBH(BIE—EH TRITHEEIK
clause that gives the banks unconditional rights to call the loans at BIE A E R ER AR ETEEE
any time are classified under the category of “Less than 1 year or on NeRBED A FUATHIZRERKEE
demand”. However, the management of the Group does not expect that Bl o A - ANEBEIEBIEARITIETT
the banks would exercise such rights to demand repayment and thus PR EENERBPIER - Btk - ZEE
these borrowings, which include the related interest, would be repaid F(BEEER L) BRIREERIGRMET
according to the below schedule as set out in the loan agreements. MAFFHEIREE -

2022 2021
2022 % 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAxT
Less than 1 year or on demand 1 FA TR ERERE 112,131 194,296
1-2 years 1826 12,852 23,085
2-5 years 2ELF 8,986 23,535
133,969 240,916
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 33. AR{EHE

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured at fair
value or required to disclose their fair value in the consolidated
financial statements on a recurring basis across the three levels
of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13 "Fair Value
Measurement” with the fair value measurement categorised in its
entirety based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
entire measurement. The levels of inputs are defined as follows:

° Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date;

4 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly;

° Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

T HREBVBREENF 13RAR
EBfEIMREZARE=EERZTIA
DA ESAREEEENR A M B R
RBEBANBEZEERAE - MASER
ENERHEBHEBEREAREZRER
ABABIBIEREDE - BARBERR
EWR

s FREBARGESAN)  AEBEE
ERAEGHNEREEXREBERR
BMi5c HECREHE)

s F_ER BRE-ELMEREZI®
BLASN s BEXBENERKMER
AEBRZBARE

s F-ERFEELR): BEXAE
ZEFBRBABUR

20225 F 3,

XEEERRARAT || 13 =



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED) 33.

(a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Ik

DR{ERTE®

(a)

UAREFENEERER

2022 2021
2022 FF 2021 &
Level 3 Level 3
E=EBR F=ER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Assets measured at fair value UARBIENEE

Financial assets at FVPL BAREFABENCRIEE
— Unlisted investments - —3JELHIRE
key management insurance —FEEBABRBREL(HF15)

contracts (Note 15)

31,633 30,454

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, there
were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair
value measurements.

HZE2022F 2021128318 1k
FE-F-EBR F_ERR
BHRAA(EE 2 B EEE o

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Total unrealised gain recognised ~ RIBaERA R IR B
in profit or loss

905 868

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the surrender cash value, which
is primarily based on the performance of the underlying
investment portfolio, reported by the bank on a regular
basis.

(b) Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure, but
not measured at fair value

All other financial assets and liabilities are carried at
amounts not materially different from their fair values at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

*\
= \
(-88 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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(b)

TEEEERRANNAARETDSZ
ERARBVEEBEE  ZREEHE
ERANRBITEHRENHEBERES
BRR -

WEARBEERUAAETEN
EEREE
FTEEMEMEERBEHNER
2022 R2021 12 A3 HMIA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. COMMITMENTS

35.

(a) Capital expenditure commitments

fm 5 Bil ¥ $R 2} Bl oE

Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

34. KiE
(a) EBXBALZEAE

2022 2021
2022 5 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET

Contracted but not provided net ~ FLERTEXMHEETH

of deposits paid for BARBESBEHRIES)

construction in progress

863 1,766

(b) Lease commitments
The Group as a lessee

The Group has a non-cancellable lease commitment of
short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less. The
future aggregate minimum lease payment of these leases
are as follows:

(b) HERIE
L FEBETA

ANEBEAE A 12 AKAR ]
BN E R ERERAE - REHE
RARRATHREREMZTEOT ¢

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET

Within one year —FHUA

= 302

The Group as a lessor

Certain property was leased for a term within one year.
The Group had contracted with tenant for following future

FEBERL A

ETYHENHERR R —FIUA -
AREEDH N RRRERENK

minimum lease payments: HEPEIN AL
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Within one year —F PR 694 755
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 35. SXEH

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages its
capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment of
dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from equity
owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

AREBHBEREETERENRENES
BECERAEZEEAREERNE
He AEBEREEARBLEHAR
BREREREEASZRE - BlERSH
BEABEINEE  SHHEEENURERE -
HE2022F K% 2021F12 B31 BIEEE
BiZ « BRI EE L EE -

%E%EE%%@QQ:.1;:\ =

20225 F 3,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 #ZE 2022F 12 A31 HIEFE

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

36. FRFHMBRRAE

COMPANY
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes HK$°'000 HK$'000
BsE FExT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KEHE A A] = —*
Current assets REBEE
Due from the subsidiaries FEUR KB A R FRTE 36(b) 99,663 111,078
Other receivables H bW FRIE 225 306
Income tax recoverable AR B FTIEFR 229 27
Bank balances SRITAE SR 426 566
Current liabilities REBEE 100,543 111,977
Other payables H b 5108 519 360
Net current assets RBEEFE 100,024 111,617
NET ASSETS EEFE 100,024 111,617
Capital and reserves BEARK#E
Share capital fi& 7 26 62,000 62,000
Reserves & 36(a) 38,024 49,617
TOTAL EQUITY B 100,024 111,617

* Amounts less than HK$1,000

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2023 and signed

on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
R R AR
Director

EF

s, |
*
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ=2022F 12 A31 BILFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

36. ERXFHMMBRAER

36(a) RAREENEE

36(a)Movement of share capital and reserves

Share
option Accumulated
profits Total
ZE BT st
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FE T

Share

premium reserve

BRRERE
HK$°000
TR

10 5 B
HK$'000
TR

At 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 34,203 2,047 19,694 55,944
Profit and total F R R 2 ES

comprehensive income  #&%

for the year - - 2,470 2,470
Recognition of equity- R AN E AR (D

settled share-based B < B AN (B3 28)

payments (Note 28) - 503 - 503
Forfeit of share B R MR (At 28)

options (Note 28) - (45) 45
Dividends (Note 11) B (HaET1) = - (9,300) (9,300)
At 31 December 2021 M2021512HA31H 34,203 2,505 12,909 49,617
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 34,203 2,505 12,909 49,617
Profit and total FRRF REERE

comprehensive income  #A2%8

for the year - - 807 807
Forfeit of share FERRIE R M (ATt 28)

options (Note 28) - (70) 70 -
Dividends (Note 11) B (HaE11) - - (12,400) (12,400)
At 31 December 2022 7202212 H31H 34,203 2,435 1,386 38,024

36(b) FEUREH B A BRIFRIE

R B RARFIBTERR 28
//\szt/\1= °

36(b)Due from the subsidiaries

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

FEEBZRARAT || \
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
70 F Bl 55 itk 3

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for ~ ZAfE&KE AREIR « HZE 20214 ~ 20204 + 2019
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated ~F % 2018F 12 A3 HIFFEMFIR - NEH
financial statements in this annual report, the annual report for the RBEREMBREENEEUNEERBER
years ended 31 December 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018, is set out below. AR

RESULTS x5

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3NALEE
2018 2019 2020 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FA&T FATT FHET

Revenue g 959,947 1,251,074 787,394 1,117,688 1,143,941
Cost of goods sold 721 am 85 & AR (722,123) (937,715) (593,697) (863,830) (883,868)
Gross Profit EF 237,824 313,359 193,697 253,858 260,073
Other income E bl A 5,410 4,925 7,588 7,105 7,923
Other gains and (losses), net EAbUszs K (K518 )55 = 1,914 818 1,062 (7,669)
Impairment losses mE - BB & - - - (7,889)

on property, plant FER

and equipment REEE
Reversal of (Provision for) & 5 FEU ZIA KR = = (1,101) (349) 216

loss allowance on P& 1 o]

trade receivables (E1EEE)
Changes in fair value of BAREFTABRRN (272) S = - -

financial assets at FVPL SREEANE

=4

Selling and distribution costs $5% & 5 #5Ak 7 (12,457) (11,374) (8,477) (7,424) (5,795)
Administrative and other TN EfMAE &R (107,794) (135,404) (96,175) (126,290) (130,714)

operating expenses
Finance costs EUpID N (12,027) (9,069) (8,822) (7,667) (7,208)
Listing expenses EHAX (6,402) = = = -
Profit before tax BR % A 5 A 104,282 164,351 87,528 112,406 116,826
Income tax expenses FrS Bt (28,527) (37,155) (13,814) (16,142) (10,881)
Profit for the year ERER 75,755 127,196 73,714 96,264 105,945
Other comprehensive HEmzmE(EE) ks (4,831) (13,312) 34,542 29,093 (66,607)

(loss) income
Total comprehensive income % Y #5 4258 70,924 113,884 108,256 125,357 39,338
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

As at 31 December
M12H31H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TATT TATT TATT FEx

Total assets REE 971,749 973,529 1,163,290 1,347,035 1,204,613
Total liabilities BEE 520,508 436,304 525,062 592,247 422,887
Total equity e AR R 451,241 537,225 638,228 754,788 781,726

s *‘
('92 * Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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